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The Board is responsible for the external audit of the accounts of the General Secretariat
pursuant to the General Assembly Resolution 123 adopted on April 14, 1973, and Permanent
Council Resolution 124 dated June 30, 1975. It began to function in March 1876, and adopted
defailed rules and procedures to carry out its duties and responsibilities. These rules reflect the
standards and requirements prescribed by the General Assembly and the Permanent Council for
the external audit of the OAS.

The Board is composed of three members elected by the General Assembly,
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To the Permanent Council of the

ORGANIZATION OF AMERICAN STATES

The Board of External Auditors is pleased to present its annual report on the external
audit of the accounts and financial statements of the ORGANIZATION OF AMERICAN
STATES (OAS) in accordance with Article 117 of the General Standards to govern the

operations of the General Secretariat. Our report covers the year ended December 31, 1998, and

includes:
e Comments and recommendations by the Board for improving the OAS' operating
procedures and internal accounting controls;
® Audit of the accounts and financial statements of major OAS funds:
Regular Fund .
Special Multilateral Fund of the Inter-American Council of Integral
Development (FEMCIDI)
e Audit of the accounts and financial statements of the Rowe Memorial Benefit Fund
and the Leo S. Rowe Pan American Fund;
° Audit of the accounts and financial statements of the Planning for Adoption to
Global Climate Change Project;
e Audit of the accounts and financial statements of the Retirement and Pension

Fund;



® Audit of the accounts and financial statements of the Inter-American Defense
Board;

® Audit of the accounts and financial statements of the Unit for the Promotion of
Democracy (OAS/Democ); and

e Audit of accounts and financial statements of the Trust for the Americas.

The Board's annual report is based primarily on the audit conducted by Emst & Young,
which was performed in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards. The Board
reviewed and discussed the audit work and related workpapers with representatives from the firm.
In preparing its report, the Board has also considered thé reports of the organization’s Inspector

General and discussions with management officials.

The Regular Fund and FEMCIDI financial statements included in this report represent the
financial activity for the year ended December 31, 1998, on a comparative basis with the year
ended December 31, 1996, The statements have been prepared in conformity with accounting
practices prescribed by the Budgetary and Financial Rules of the General Secretariat which
require the measurement of financial position and operating results in terms of historical cost
without regard to changes in the purchasing power of money over time. Ernst & Young’s
opinion, as it pertains to the financial statements for the year ended December 31, 1998 is

unqualified.

Based on the opinions rendered by Emst & Young on funds audited, the Board certifies in
accordance with Article 119 of the General Standards to govern the operations of the General

Secretariat that:

e The financial statements of all funds audited agree with the books, records,
documents, and vouchers of the General Secretariat.

® The securities and cash on deposit have been checked by means of certification
from depositories of the General Secretariat and the cash on hand has been
checked by actually counting it as deemed appropriate by the Board in accordance
with generally accepted auditing standards.
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We have included as Appendix A of Section I Emst & Young's opinion on compliance
with the General Standards to govern the operations of the General Secretariat. In addition, our
report contains a number of recommendations designed to improve OAS' operating procedures

and internal accounting controls both at Headquarters and at the Offices in the member states.

In May 1997, the Permanent Council adopted CP/RES. 703 (1122/97) which revised
Article 108, renumbered it as Article 124, and provided that: ‘

"The Board shall submit its report to the Permanent Council within the first
four months of the year. The report shall include the preliminary comments of
the General Secretariat. Additional formal comments on the plans for adopting
measures relating to the recommendations of the report shall be furnished by
the General Secretariat and the Office of the Inspector General The
Permanent Council shall make such observations and recommendations as it
sees fit. The Report shall be submitted to the next regular session of the
General Assembly, together with the observations from the Permanent Council,
the General Secretariat and the Office of the Inspector General".

This report is submitted in accordance with Article 124.

As of December 31, 1998, the Regular Fund had a negative fund balance of $921,000
which was a decrease of more than $6 million from the December 3 1, 1997, balance of about $5.5
million. Quota collections in the Regular Fund during 1997 totaled approximately $67.5 million
(with 82% of the current year assessment and 17% of prior years’ arrearages collected).

Uncollected quota balances at December 31, 1998, totaled $49 million, as compared to $42.9
million at December 31, 1997.



The Members of the Board wish to express their appreciation for the cooperation of the
General Secretariat in facilitating the audit work and to the General Assembly and Permanent

Council for the opportunity to assist in evaluating the financial operations and management of the

OAS.
Jdequeliyn L. Wil]iamsgﬁ%r/
Chairman
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CHAPTER 1

COMMENTS RELATING TO THE GENERAL SECRETARIAT

Issues related to the General Secretariat have been grouped into three categories as follows: (1)
issues of continuing concern, (2) action on prior issues, and (3) new issues. Seven issues
discussed in last year’s report related to the General Secretariat continue to be of concern to the

Board members,

ISSUES OF CONTINUING CONCERN

Staffing Skills and
General Business Process

Over the past few years, several offices of the Secretariat
have experienced personnel reductions and, as a result,
operate with minimal staffing levels. The Board
understands that downsizing is a necessity. However, the
Board feels it is important to ensure that adequate staffing
levels and skills is maintained especially in the most critical
functions and the most vulnerable areas of the QAS, such
as in the Department of Management Systems and
Information (DMSI) and the Department of Financial
Services (DES).

The Board leamed that the Director of Human Resources
is in the process of performing an QAS-wide review of
employee’s abilities and training needs during the
development of a performance evaluation system. The
Board considers this an ambitious, but necessary,
undertaking that will provide a wealth of information for
staffing improvements. However, the Board reiterates its
prior recommendation that OAS management review the
staffing within the Organization, The Board recommends
that the staffing study include a review of staffing levels
and skills of employees to ensure that areas are right-sized
and that employees are assigned to jobs that are most
appropriate. OAS management would, of course, identify
the scope of this review. We understand that OAS
management believes that because OAS 1s i a state of flux
it is not the proper time to do this study. However, the
Board does not agree with this assessment.

The implementation of a new management information
system (MIS) will enable more efficient operations in
QAS’ critical business functions. However, OAS must
take maximum advantage of the first new system
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Review of Policies
and Procedures

Management Information
Systems

implemented in over 20 years by expanding its effort to
reengineer its core business processes in conjunction with
the implementation of the new system. An expanded
staffing study, as recommended above, would allow OAS
to determine how the new system has affected the need for
staffing. The Board recommends that an outside contractor
be used to review the core business processes and to
suggest ways o reengineer operations, incorporating ideas
to utilize the new OAS/Oracle system in the most effective
manner.

As in prior years, the Board determined that OAS’ overall
policies and procedures governing daily operations of the
General Secretariat were in need of being updated. In fact,
the IG indicated that this was her number one concem.
This includes the Budgetary and Financial Rules of the
OAS, the Field Financial Manual, as well as the
Departmental manuals which govern the day-to-day
activities and operations. Ernst and Young (E&Y) noted
that an effort to update the manuals outlining competitive
bidding procedures was underway, but had not been
completed.

The Board recommends, as it has in prior years, that the
OAS facilitate efforts to upgrade the General Secretariat’s
policy and procedural guides. It is important that a
consistent body of criteria which documents the existing
rules and regulations of the QAS exist to ensure that
employees and contractors are aware of and comply with
these procedures, especially in light of the significant
changes within the OAS. The Board recommends that
OAS update policies and procedures in conjunction with
any review of staffing and reengineering of core processes
that is performed. The Board realizes that this project will
take time to complete; however, the Board believes that
there are certain areas for which a more immediate need
exists to have updated policies and procedures. The Board
recommends that OAS prioritize areas, and, at a minimum,
establish policies and procedures for high-priority areas as
soon as possible.

DMSI is in the process of implementing corrective
measures to enhance the overall control structure of QAS’
MIS environment. The Board members believe the new
computer system is one of the most vital issues facing
OAS at this time and feels that much attention and effort
needs to be focused on this area in the next year, especially
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considering the unavoidable Year 2000 (Y2K) deadline.
The Board recommends that adequate funding for this
program be provided in a timely manner.

Physical Access - In the past, the Board has expressed
concern with the physical access fo the data center. QAS
significantly improved access controls. However, due to
the switch from the mainframe environment to a client-
server architecture, a new set of security issues has been
raised 1In a client-server environment, facilities and
services are physically distributed across an organization.
Instead of having a data center that requires access
confrols, there now are other facilities that require
controlled access, including multiple server rooms, routing
and switching rooms, and secured communications
management facilities.

As part of the Modernization Plan, QOAS is updating its
facilities and installing secured access controls to all client-
server installations in order to provide adequate access
conirols for security sensitive operations, including access
cards, controlled access lists, locking devices, and access
monitoring devices. OAS plans to complete their physical
security improvements in the second quarter of 1999. The
Board is pleased with the improvements and recommends
that OAS complete this work in a timely manner.

Program Change Controls Test Requirements - QOAS has
established policies and procedures for system
development and maintenance.  The policies cover
requirement definition, programming standards, and
documentation standards. However, there are no policies
regarding testing to be performed as part of the program
development and change process. The lack of guidance
could compromise the quality of newly developed or
changed programs. The Board recommends that
procedures regarding program testing be formalized and
communicated to all personnel invoived in the system
development and change process.

Disaster Recovery Planning - The OAS contingency plan
1s out of date and needs to be revised to reflect the current
systems environment so that all critical OAS business
processes can be recovered in a timely manner. OQAS has
done a significant amount of work in this area and believes
that a full disaster recovery plan will be in place by the end
of the year. The major elements of the Disaster Recovery
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Year 2000 Readiness

Plan are: a main server room with limited access; a
secondary server room; an auxiliary server room; and off-
site backup facilities. The Board believes this is an
important issue and recommends that the OAS implement
its plan at the earliest possible time.

PC User Guidelines - The use of PCs within the
organization becomes more important as more functions
are migrated from the Mainframe environment to the PC
LAN. With the exception of some memoranda that have
been distributed, there are no user guidelines for the use of
PCs. OAS management indicated that PC user guidelines
are being developed to coincide with the implementation of
the new system. The guidelines will address issues related
to password security, data backup and use of private
software, e-mail, and Intemet. The Board is pleased with
the work that OAS management has done in this area and
recommends that OAS continue its work in order to have
PC User Gudelines that reflect the new working
environment.

Centralized Policy for Software - During 1998, OAS
implemented a policy that DMSI must approve all sofiware
purchases.  However, this policy does not control
unauthonzed installation of software purchased by others.
The Board recommends that a policy regarding installation
of unauthorized software be formulated and that OAS
centrally monitor all installation and maintenance of end-
user software to ensure compliance with enterprise
standards. The Board also recommends that users be
required to sign an annual declaration of compliance.

Y2K will focus the world’s atfention on computerized
systems and applications not being able to recognize 2000
in a date field. This would cause a system to be unable to
process critical applications.  Y2K failure threatens
virtually all areas of the Secretariat’s operations to some
degree. Operations could be significantly affected if OAS
and 1ts vendors do not deal effectively with the Y2K issue.

E&Y performed a limited review of Y2K, although its role
was not to assess OAS” Y2K readiness. The OIG also
reviewed Y2K. The OIG indicated that the Oracle system
is Y2K compliant. However, the OIG expects that several
member states may not be compliant by January 1, 2000.
This may affect various aspects of the QAS, including the
National Offices. Y2K may also impact other operational
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Conirel Environment

activities, for instance OAS is unsure what affect other
suppliers’ noncompliant systems may have on operations.
It is the OIG’s opinion that with proper planning and timely
action by management, problems associated with the Y2K
issue may be mitigated or avoided.

OAS management has addressed the YZK issue with a
two-part plan; internally, management is carrying out a full
comphance review, test, and upgrade plan for the physical
facilities and enterprise mformation systems; and at an
OAS-wide level, the Secretary General, as recommended
by the OIG, assigned a coordinator with the responsibility
for coordinating the overall Y2K comphance for issues
affecting the institution.

The Board recommends that OAS identify all areas that
they believe are not comphant with Y2K, and develop
contingency plans for these areas. The Board also
recommends that OAS assess exposures to external
agents; since OAS cannot be assured that its vendors and
contractors will be properly prepared for the changeover,
the Organization should consider implementing additional
verification procedures to ensure the accuracy of
information received from the external agents that is date
dependent. The Board also recommends that OAS focus
on the compliance of the Member States, and determine
how this will affect OAS operations.

In 1998, DFS agan faced significant and unique
challenges. In addition to reengineering its accounting and
reporting functions to offset human resource constraints,
DFS personnel were also heavily involved in the mitial
planning, developing, testing, training, and conversion
phases of the new system implementation. E&Y’s audit
did not identify any material weaknesses, but did note a
number of areas in which controls could be improved.
Even though these issues were not widespread or material,
we recommend that OAS considered tightening these
controls because they would contribute fo a stronger
internal control environment.

The Board is pleased that DFS undertook a comprehensive
internal review of controls and sirived to reengineer its
processes. However, the Board recommends that due to
the significant demands on DFS’ himited resources, DES
must continue to review its activities to ensure that an
adequate control environment is maintained during the
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remainder of the system’s implementation period. With
this in mind, the Board recommends that DFS determine
whether greater efficiencies could be achieved in
processing transactions and/or consider opportunities for
additional outsourcing to qualified firms, at least during the
implementation phase. Whatever strategy is adopted, it
must be executed without sacrificing the integrity of the
mternal control environment.

As noted in prior reports, DFS has outsourced certain
functions, the most significant of which were the recording
of transactions of Offices Away from Headquariers, the
bank reconciliation for OAS’ main operating account at
Headquarters, and calculation of tax reimbursements. The
Board believes that this approach was prudent and
supports DFS’ efforts to retrain employees across
functional areas. However, the Board recommends that
OAS reassess the controls governing these functions on a
regular basis and ensure that transactions are being
appropriately recorded.

The Board identified a number of improvements, including
an improvement in the timeliness of recording National
Office transactions and in the approval of the bank
reconciliations for the National Offices. However, the
Board found that bank reconciliations for the main
operating account at Headquarters were not consistently
performed on a timely basis during 1998,

The review also 1identified other internal control
weaknesses. For instance, E&Y found that a transaction
code that obligated and expended funds at the same time
was being used. In at least one instance, a bill was paid
twice because this code was used. Because of the potential
for abuse, the Board recommends that the use of this code
be limited and s usage be reviewed to ensure the
propriety of the transaction.

Certain transactions were not adequately supported by
documentation, although no improprieties were identified:

e f{ransfers processed through the Tax
Reimbursement Fund;

e some reimbursements for fravel were paid
without a completed iravel voucher;

e some expenditure transactions; and

e some obligations in DEMOC.
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Fixed Assets

The Board also found that some monthly or quarterly
reports were not provided to Member States.

E&Y found approximately $352,000 in checks that were
outstanding for longer than 12 months. Since these checks
were no longer valid, the Board recommends that the
checks be cancelled and the funds put to better use,

The Board’s recommendation to require dual signatures on
checks that exceed a certain dollar limit had not been
mplemented. The Board recommends that DFS analyze
the new system to determine whether this recommendation
is still necessary given the controls established within the
system.

The Board recogmzes that certain of the weaknesses noted
above may have occurred as a result of the significant
challenges faced by DFS during the year. In addifion, the
Board believes that some of these issues will be corrected
once the new system is used to its fullest potential
However, the Board strongly recommends that DFS
remain vigilant over controls and to strive to obfain the
fullest benefit from the new systems.

Headguarters’ Assets - The Board is pleased with the
improvements made in this area. However, the Board did
identify a few areas of concern. For instance, $76,434 in
fixed assets were not capitalized; approximately $110,000
in fixed assets that had been acquired before 1998 were
not added to the fixed assets records until 1998 due to an
oversight; and the fixed asset record was not accurate.

E&Y also found that copies of invoices were not provided
to the Department of Material Resources (DMR).
Therefore, DMR was capitalizing the amount obtained
from Purchase Orders. The Board recommends that OAS
implement policies to ensure that all fixed asset purchases
are reviewed and recorded on a consistent and timely basis,
which should include obtaining a copy of the final invoice.

DMR performed a physical inventory in 1998. However,
the inventory was performed over the entire year. E&Y
noted that although the Budgetary and Financial Rules
allow for the inventory to be taken on a cyclical basis, this
should only be done when adequate controls are in place,
which was not the case. E&Y also noted several instances
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where the financial records were not updated to reflect the
results of the physical inventoryy DMR does not have
specific procedures to be followed in conducting the
inventory. The Board recommends that formal procedures
be developed, which is critical to ensure that the starting
point of the inventory is consistent with the financial
records; all items are accounted for; and the results are
identified in a timely manner so that the financial records
can be properly updated. The Board also recommends that
trained personnel be responsible for conducting the
physical inventories and updating the fixed asset records
appropriately. In addifion, the Board recommends that due
to concems with the inventory, DMR should consider
conducting an additional physical inventory as soon as
these procedures are developed.

The Board again recommends that two related areas in
OAS’s policies and procedures need review and possible
revision. One requires OAS to perform a full inventory of
tts fixed assets every two fiscal periods. The other requires
OAS to perform regular independent appraisals of the
Museum’s artwork. Since QAS is no longer reporting on a
biennium basis, under the current rules, DMR would have
to conduct a full inventory every two years, which the
Board does not believe is the intent of the policies. In
addition, the Board believes that certain types of assets
may be more vulnerable to theft than others (laptop
computers vs. furniture) and therefore may require more
frequent inventory reviews than other assets. The Board
recommends that DMR pursue a change in the Budgetary
and Financial Rules to reflect the modified reporting
periods. The Board also recommends that DMR develop a
methodology to review risks pertaining to certain types of
assets, and to perform inventory reviews based on these
nsk assessments.

With regard to the appraisal of the artwork, since the value
of artwork does not fluctuate greatly over time, changing
the rules to allow for a greater length of time between
appraisals might be appropriate. The Board therefore
recommends that the Budgetary and Financial Rules be
revised fo allow for a greater length of time between
appraisals to reflect more realistic requirements.

Artwork acquired in 1998 was properly included in the

fixed asset records; however, as noted in prior years, OAS
did not always record donated artwork immediately upon
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Obligations Not Supported
By Firm Commitments

receipt, but waited uniil the Art Commitise, which meets
twice a year, approved the appropriateness of the artwork.
The Board recommended, and the Director of the Art
Museum agreed, fo create a new category of assets that are
pending Commuttee approval for inclusion in the Museum,
called “Pending Ariwork”. The Director would report
these assets to DMR immediately, so the fixed asset
records could be updated. The artwork could be removed
from the fixed asset record if the Art Committee declines
the artwork’s inclusion in the Museum,

National Office Assets - DMR annually provides each of
the National Offices with a list of fixed assets and requires
the Offices to perform a physical inventory and update the
list. In 1998, only a portion of the countries returned the
requested information. Although the assets mamntained by
the National Offices represent only a small percentage of
OAS’ fixed assets, the Board recommends that DMR
follow-up with those National Offices that did not respond,
in order to maintain continued communications with the
Nattonal Offices and to ensure that OAS’ fixed assets are
accurately stated. DMR should work with the National
Offices to ensure an improved response rate in the future,
The Board recommends that the OIG continue to perform a
physical inventory of fixed assets during its regularly
scheduled reviews of Offices Away from Headquarters,
and to provide detailed information on their findings to
DMR. The Board also recommends that DMR modify the
fixed asset records based on the OIG findings in a timely
manner.

E&Y again noted a number of obligations that were not
supported by firm committments on December 31, 1998.
Many of the unsupporied obligations were for travel
expenditures. Unliquidated obligations at December 31,
1998, totaled $11.7 million (Regular Fund: $7.7 million;
Specific Funds and FEMCIDL  $4 mullion). This is a
significant improvement over 1997 when E&Y found
$22.3 million in unliquidated obligations.

Based on random sampling, E&Y extrapolated an error of
$255,940 for the Regular Fund, $167,810 for the Specific
Funds (including FEMCIDI), and $114,054 for DEMOC.
This 1s a significant improvement from previous vears; for
example, in 1997 E&Y extrapolated an error of more than
$6 million. Ewven though the situation had improved
significantly, E&Y still determined the error rate could be
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material.  Therefore, OAS management performed an
institutional review of unliquidated obligations.

Based on the work that OAS had completed as of the end
of fieldwork, E&Y determined that the amount of
obligations that were not supported by firm commitments
was $327,046. This amount included $10,578 previously
identified by E&Y. The additional $316,468 of
unsupported obligations are represented below:

Regular Fund $ 244,984
FEMCIDI $ 0
Specific Funds § 71484

$316,468

This amount was not material, therefore OAS did not make
an adjustment to the 1998 financial statements.

As mentioned earlier, significant improvements had been
made in fund management, which can be attributed, at
least in part, to efforts by OAS to periodically review its
open obligations. In 1998 OAS decentralized its review
and required the technical areas to monitor its obligations
closely and deobligate those that are no longer needed,
freeing up funds for other activities. The Board was
pleased with the efforts of the Office of Program Budget to
educate the other offices and to provide a Handbook with
guidance on how to improve the management over
obligations. However, there still seems to be some
reluctance to deobligate funds. Therefore, the Board again
recommends that management emphasize the need to
adequately manage unliquidated obligations. It is essential
that the obligation process be more closely monitored both
at the initiation phase and completion phase.

I-12



ACTION ON PRIOR ISSUES

Disputed Pledge

Art Museum of the Americas

For a number of years, the majority of the outstanding
pledge balance for FEMCIDI related to a 1977 pledge
made by the U.S. of approximately $8.7 million. In early
1997, the U.S. Mission to the OAS informed the Board, in
conjunction with the annual audit of the financial
statements, that the U.S. did not acknowledge this
outstanding $8.7 million balance,

In 1997, the Board brought this matter to the attention of
the Committee on Administrative and Budgetary Affairs
for consideration and resolution. However, the Board
found this issue had not been resolved during its annual
meeting in 1998.  Therefore, in 1998, the Board
recommended that the Permanent Council resolve this
situation. The Board is pleased to leam that this issue has
been resolved and that the amount was written off.

The Art Museum of the Americas displays works of art
from numerous American artists. The Board members feel
that the art collection is of extreme educational and cultural
importance. The Board previously reported that the
Museum did not seem to atiract the number of patrons that
the Board members believed such an important collection
should attract. The Board members felt it was their duty to
ensure that OAS’ assets were put fo the best use possible,
including works of art. Therefore, the Board members
recommended that OAS management consider alternatives
for displaying these works of art.

During 1998, the Art Museum implemented an
impressive array of activities that improved both the
collection and the accessibility to these important pieces
of art. These activities were generally implemented in
innovative ways, considering the Art Museum does not
have a budget for acquisitions or other activities. In
addition to Museum attendance, an additional audience
was reached through outreach activities such as loans of
artwork and traveling exhibitions; distributions of
educational material; and reproduction of objects in
books and other publications. In addition, the Museum
participated in a number of Community Qutreach
Programs. Also, OAS plans to develop a “virtual
museum” on the Internet, which would significantly
expand the audience. The Board would like to
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NEW ISSUES

~ Financial Condition

congratulate the Director of the Art Museum on this
impressive effort, and recommends that the Director
continue to seek innovative ways to share the artwork.

Payment of Currvent Quotas and Arrearages - The
financial condition of OAS’ Regular Fund had significantly
deteriorated during 1998. As of December 31, 1998, the
Regular Fund had a deficit balance of $921,000 -- a
decrease of more than $6 million dollars since December
31, 1997, when the Regular Fund balance totaled about
$5.5 million. This deficiency was primarily due to a
shortfall in the 1998 quota collections. Quota collections
during 1998 totaled $67.5 million (with 82% of the current
year assessment and 17% of prior years’ arrearages
collected). Uncollected quota balances on December 31,
1998, amounted to $49 million compared to $42.9 million
on December 31, 1997. Income from interest and
administrative and technical support charges also
decreased in 1998 to $3.5 million, as compared to $4.9
million for 1997.

Although OAS management has informed the Board that
significant funds were collected during the first quarter of
1999, this decrease in the operating budget concemns the
Board. OAS management has informed the Board that the
General Assembly was also concerned and implemented
incentives o encourage countries to pay their quotas in a
timely manner. For instance, quotas in arrears are reduced
by 2% if a country pays by December 31, 2000. Also,
OAS will fund an OAS event in a counfry only if that
country either has no arrearage or has an approved
payment schedule for both their arrearage and their current
year’s quota by April 1, 1999,

The Board commends the General Assembly for taking
these steps, but feels that more must be done. We believe
if quotas continue to be collected in such a late manner,
OAS will be unable to fulfill its mandates. The Board
believes that it is imperative for the health of the Regular
Fund that the Permanent Council take swift and certain
action in this area. Although the Board does not believe it
is in a position to suggest options, it would like to point out
that the amount of uncollected quotas and arrearages does
not bode well for OAS.

s
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Maintenance of Specific Funds - The Board found that a
number of Specific Funds have a deficit balance.
According to OAS rules, expenditures from Specific
Funds are not supposed to be made until contributions are
received, {unless a specific agreement is developed).
Although the Board believes that a number of the most
recent deficits will be funded, the Board found that a
number of these items have been oufstanding for several
years. In fact, OAS management informed the Board that
they do not believe that some of these pledges will ever be
received.

The Board is very concerned about this situation. As
discussed above, the financial condition of the Regular
Fund has deteriorated, at a time when the OAS is expected
to modernize and to complete more and more mandates.
When countries do not fulfill Specific Fund pledges, and
the activities are carried out anyway, the Regular Fund
suffers. The Board recommends that OAS review its
existing policies and procedures surrounding the
expenditures incurred for Specific Fund projecis to ensure
the Regular Fund is not penalized. For istance, if a
country wants o host an OAS event in their country, they
are currenily required to provide a certain amount in
advance. However, the Board learned that even if funding
1s not provided in advance, the event is normally held.
OAS management indicated that such situations caused a
number of the deficits.

The Board recommends that if a couniry does not provide
the money in advance as required, then the event should be
moved to Headquarters or canceled. In addition, the Board
recommends that the OAS review the hst of outstanding
pledges for Specific Funds, and pursue collection; the ones
that are believed to be uncollectible should be written off.
QAS plans o use reports produced by the new system to
inform the Permanent Council of the Specific Funds that
are in a deficit situation. The Board recommends that this
project, which will result in a more transparent system, be
implemented in a fimely manner.

Reimbursement of Overhead Costs - Another concem is
that many of the Specific and Voluntary Funds are not
reimbursing the Regular Fund for administrative support.
The Regular Fund requires reimbursement from these
funds in the amount of 10%-15% of the amounts
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Management Information
Systems

contributed. However, in general, this is not being done.
According to OAS management, in many cases
coniributors specifically state that they do not want these
funds to be used for overhead. Although the Board
understands the intent behind this type of request, the
Board does not believe the implications are being
adequately conveyed to the contributors. As the number of
Specific and Voluntary Funds increases, so do the support
costs; however, without a portion of the contribution going
toward this cost, the Regular Fund, which is already in a
difficult financial position, is strained even more.

The Board understands that the General Secretariat has
taken on a number of significant projects in the past few
years, and may not be able to take on a major new project
in the near future, but the Board recommends that the OAS
move toward developing a cost accounting system, which
will document the costs of providing support services to
the Specific and Voluntary Funds. Once a documented
cost is established, a fee for these services can be charged.
If Fund management believes that the fees are excessive,
they can acquire the services from another source. Cost
information would also provide useful information to
confributors  about the actual costs of programs. For
nstance, coniributors may not feel that certain projects
would be worthwhile if they knew the real costs.

Systems Modernization - The Board is concemed that
certain areas of the OAS had not yet been modernized.
The most significant area is Human Resources/Payroll.
OAS management is aware of this issue, and is striving to
issue a contract to have this module in place by January 1,
2000. OAS management has confidence that this issue
will be successfully addressed. Given the late date, the
Board 1s concerned that the implementation may not meet
the January 1, 2000, deadline. The Board recommends
that OAS develop a contingency plan in case the
implementation of the Human Resources/Payroll module is
not completed in a timely manner.

Although not as significant, no plans have been made to
obtain a fixed assets module or a module for Rowe loans,
OAS plans to use a spreadsheet program to track fixed
assets and is considering options to track the Rowe loans,
Although the Board agrees that they may not need to be
updated before January 1, 2000, we recommend that OAS
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ensure these areas are adequately modemnized.
Considering the control issues identified by the Board, we
behieve adequate software to track these areas is necessary.

The Board 1s also aware that OAS plans to implement the
OAS/Oracle system at the National Offices, which will
allow a significant improvement in the efficiency and
timeliness of financial information being entered into the
system. The Board recommends that OAS place a high
priority on this effort and complete it in a timely manner.
The Board also recommends that 2-3 of the Offices be
used as a pilot project before the new process is
implemented at all of the National Offices.

Training - The Board is concemed with the adequacy of
the training provided to the users of the new systems.
Although OAS has indicated that user training has been
emphasized, the Board heard concems from a number of
OAS employees regarding training. The Board leamed
that the original mtention was to train two employees in
each group, and then have them train other employees
within their offices. Unfortunately, this has not worked
very effectively. We understand that OAS is developing
additional training for employees and the Board believes
that it will take employees some time to get used to the
new system; however, the Board recommends that OAS
focus on this area and ensure that all users are familiar and
comfortable with the new system in a timely manner. The
Board believes that training is vital in order to ensure the
successful implementation of the system, and believes that
this investment of time and resources is necessary in order
to ensure that the new system is used effectively.

Controls in OAS/Oracle System - Because the 1998
financial staternents were prepared with the legacy system,
E&Y only performed limited work on the new QAS/Oracle
system. However, based on their imited review, E&Y
identified three areas of concem which the Board
recommends that OAS comrect quckly: (1) checks
processed through the new system are not required to be in
sequential order; (2) National Office expenditures for the
first quarter of 1999 had not been entered into the system;
and (3) the system allowed a user o input negative debits
and credits, which is an improper accounting method.

Reduce Paper Usage - The Board believes that the OAS is
a paper-laden environment and sees a number of
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opportunities for efficiencies to be gained in the area of
publications. New technology is available to distribute
information in innovative ways, such as the Internet,
Intranet, or CD-ROMs. Although the Board does not
expect that OAS can be entirely “paperless™, it does
recommend that OAS pursue these efficiencies for
distributing information in a less paper intensive manner.

I-18



CHAPTER 2

COMMENTS RELATING TO AUDITS BY THE OFFICE OF
THE INSPECTOR GENERAL

In 1998, the Office of the Inspector General (OIG) issued 13 audit reports, 2 inspection reports,
and 4 investigations. Nine of the 13 audits {70%) were conducted at Headquarters; 4 of the 13
audits (30%) were performed in offices and projects of the General Secretariat located in the
Member States. The OAS IG audited the Trade Unit and the Foreign Trade Information System;
the Inter-Sectoral Unit for Tourism, contracts with Walton Thomas International, the tax
rexmbursement program, the Americas magazine, the project for strengthening scientific and
technological development in Central America, Year 2000 computer concerns, the Oracle
systems development, and the Leo Rowe Panamerican Fund. The OIG also reviewed the
National Office and Projects in Costa Rica, the demining program, CIDI projects in Dominica,
Mexico, and Colombia, and the Technical Cooperation Program for the Consolidation of Peace
and Reintegration in Nicaragua. In addition, two inspections and one investigation were
performed away from Headquarters and three investigations were performed at Headquarters.
Some of the issues identified during the investigations were systemic issues that affected the
OAS as a whole, and those issues are included in the summary.

AUDITS OF PROJECTS IN THE MEMBER STATES

In 1998, the Office of the Inspecior General conducted audits of the Technical Cooperation
Program for the Consolidation of Peace and Reinsertion in Nicaragua, the Assistance Program
for Demining in Central America, the National Offices and Projects in Costa Rica, and CIDI
projects in Dominica, Mexico, and Colombia.

The Technical Cooperation Program for the Consolidation of Peace and Reinsertion in
Nicaragua

e Commitments were not being handled appropriately.

o DFS had stopped providing a report of “Unexpired Disbursement Authorizations” to the
National Office; however, this was the only source of information to update its records on
comimitments.

e Some official travel did not comply with the policies and procedures of the General
Secretariat and travel was allowed without an official travel authorization.

o A process needed to be developed related to applicants for OAS’ scholarships and, once
chosen, Government offices and sponsoring agencies should be informed of the recipient.
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The Assistance Program for Demining in Central America Implemented by the Unit for the
Promotion of Democracy of the OAS

The demining program had achieved its programmatic objectives in an excellent manner.
However, the OIG believed that OAS should refocus the “mine problem” from that of one
project within a unit to an integrated and multi-disciplinary approach. The mine problem can
no longer be viewed from a narrow perspective of mine destruction as an end to itself: it
represents a major, long-term challenge involving humanitarian, social, educational,
industrial, and agricultural features and should be addressed using an integrated and
multidisciplinary approach similar to the UN.

The demining program in Costa Rica is parily paralyzed because a helicopter is no longer
available.

Vehicles were old, costly to maintain, and served as good examples for establishing an
organizational policy covering timely disposition of non-economical vehicles.

There was a need to improve coordination between Headquarters and the Field Offices and
to carefully examine requests from Field Offices for equipment.

Admmisirative and financial best practices should be duplicated.

Cash payments should be avoided.

The Republic of Costa Rica

e © @ 2 o

Someone should be available at all times fo process duty exemptions.

In some cases, expenditures were made before obligations were recorded.

The listing of assets was inaccurate.

Incomplete travel expense claims were approved.

Proper procedures were not available regarding donation of project assets after a project is
completed.

Heritage Dance (Dominica}, Programa de Becas Cuahutemoc (Mexico}, and Programa de
Apoyo a la Industria del Papel (Colombia)

@

The audit determined that SEDI had not effectively managed and evaluated these projects as
required in its mandate. The OIG believed the lack of effective management, evaluations,
and follow-up action on projects by SEDI was primarily responsible for the internal control
weaknesses 1dentified during the OIG’s examination of the three projects.
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AUDITS OF HEADQUARTERS OPERATIONS

As previously mentioned, the Office of the Inspector General completed nine audits of
Headquarters operations. The following summarizes the findings of these audits.

Trade Unit and the Foreign Trade Information System (SICE) of the 0AS

The review showed that both the Trade Unit and the SICE are fulfilling their objectives in a
satisfactory manner and their achievements have been generally impressive.

The offices have not done any long term planning, especially with regard to the job force and
organizational structure.

The offices were using performance contracts, which is an inadequate method for long-term
hiring,

A number of unauthorized e-mail addresses existed and there were indications that electronic
data of an embarrassing nature had been stored.

One employee who performed outside consulting work had not received formal permission to
do this work, as 1s required in OAS regulations.

Employees felt that they needed training on new software that was being installed.

Two SICE positions {which were being funded by SICE) were not working for either of
these offices. One of these positions was the Unit Coordinator.

In general, these offices were expending their funds approprately. However, the
procurement practices needed to be strengthened. For example, an excessive number of
software packages had been purchased, some computers were “cannibalized” for parts

without documentation, and inventory lists” did not match records maintained by the
Department of Material Resources.

Evaluation of the Inter-Sectoral Unit for Tourism of the OAS

¢ @& 2 o

In order to attract external funding and promote effective partnerships with the private sector
and intemnational lending agencies, the Unit must be more dynamic in its image, its
operations, and its ability to offer and demonstrate OAS expertise.

The Unit did not satisfactorily achieve-its objectives related to research studies, policy
papers, and effective exchange of information and promotion of public/private sector
cooperation with a view fo mobilizing additional resources.

Insufficient technical skills and failure to prepare systematic plans and to execute more
effective follow-up action hampered the Unit’s ability to attract external financing,

The Unit’s mandate was complementary to CIDI’s objectives and there was no overlap or
duplications.

Communication between CIDI and the Tourism Unit was inadequate, in particular the lack of
feedback when projects are executed by the National Executing Agencies.

The Unit did not have adequate facilities for mestings.

The OAS did not have guidance on official travel expenses paid by outside agencies.

The Unit had not complied with OAS guidance on performance contracts.

The Unit’s website needed to be improved in order to have up-to-date information that is
easily accessible.

The inventory list maintained by the Department of Material Resources was not accurate.
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Contracts with Walton Thomas International and an Assessment of the Oufsourcing
Concept of the OAS as of February 15, 1998

-]

Nineteen contracts between Walton Thomas International and the General Secretariat met the
criteria that was envisioned by the outsourcing concept.

Although it was currently cost effective for DFS o outsource another 10 tasks, DFS needs to
monitor the contracts to ensure they continue to be cost effective.

DFS has sacrificed essential controls over the contractor by not reviewing or monitoring
transactions from the Field Offices.

Another 20 contracts, for long-term or essential functions, should not have been outsourced.
The OIG believes that the contractor does not provide adequate incentives to keep
employees, control over job assignments is lost, and the OAS may not be getting the most
qualified employees.

The OAS staffing ceilings are not realistically based and so a manpower utilization study is
urgently needed.

There was no centralization or uniformity of negotiating and contracting for outsourcing,
There 1s no clause in the contracts to allow audits.

Tax Reimbursement Program Administered by the Department of Financial Services of the
OAS

The tax reimbursement program is complex and requires special expertise, which was not
available in DFS. However, the OIG believes that this function should not be outsourced in
order to maintain privacy and to effectively accomplish DFS’ fiduciary responsibilities.

DFS did not effectively follow-up on complaints in a timely manner.

Tax retums for people receiving reimbursements should be internally audited.

Adequate and tmely mnformation should be obtained from the individuals receiving
remmbursements in order to facilitate and expedite the calculations.

Americas Magazine, Office of Public Information

[:3

Although the Permanent Council required annual statements of revenues and expenditures
for the magazine, they were not submitted in 1997.

The inventory listing was inaccurate.

The OIG followed-up on an earlier recommendation to collect an overpayment from a
company that provided maintenance services and found that not all of the money had been
collected and the company had gone out of business. The OIG recommended that the
Secretary General determine if the person responsible for the overpayment should reimburse
the OAS.

Employees were not always submitting timely time and attendance records, but DFS did not
comply with established policies to not pay employees that do not submit these records.
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Evaluation of the Project for Strengthening Scientific and Technological Development in
Ceniral America, Phase IT

L]

Not all of the CTCAP countries provided required documentation, including copies of bank

statements, to the Implementing Agency in a timely manner. The documentation is needed to
facilitate the verification of the fund usage.

CTCAP ftransferred funds between activities that exceeded limitations in the Execution
Agreement, and did not get approval for this.

Funds from other donors had not always been kept separate from CIDI contributions, as
required by the Execution Agreements.

Per Diem rates were not always properly applied.

Training is needed in order to facilitate the preparation of financial reports.

Gverall, SEDI had not provided effective follow-up and evaluation as required by the
Execution Agreement, which has decreased the effectiveness and results of the projects.

An Assessment of the Year 2000 Issue af the General Secretariat

The OIG expects that the OAS information systems will be Y2K compliant when the
ORACLE database system is fully installed and tested.

Aithough the OIG believes OAS will be compliant, they expect several member states not to
be compliant by January 1, 2000. This may affect various aspects of the OAS, including the
National Offices.

OAS 15 unsure whether the Art Museum inventory system is Y2K compliant.

No plans had been made for ensuring the tracking system for Rowe loans was Y2K
compliant.

Y2K may also impact other operational activities, for instance OAS is unsure what effect
other suppliers” noncompliant systems may have on operations. It is the OIG’s opinion that
with proper planning and timely action by management, problems associated with the Y2K
issue may be mutigated or avoided,

There is need for a coordinator to provide leadership in awareness, contingency planning, and
to provide overall technical support. The coordinator must focus on the importance of
achieving Y2K compliance, selecting the overall approach to structure the Year 2000
program for assessing the adequacy of existing information, sapporting the Y2K efforts, and
mobilizing needed resources. The coordinator should also ensure all equipment and software
is Y2K compliant; should arrange for effective monitoring of member states’ efforts with
Y2K and report on the potential impacts; should ensure all external systems that could
impact operations are tested; and should provide quarterly reports to the Secretary General.
The coordinator should also establish a website with Y2K information available, should
monitor procurement contractors, and ensure contingency plans are prepared.

Oracle Government Financial Impact

@

The current implementation plan was unlikely to be fully completed by the scheduled date
and no contingency plan existed for such an eventuality.

The situation was complicated by the possibility of a total or partial failure of the legacy MIS
system due to Y2K problems.
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Because an organization wide security policy did not exist, the OIG believed that it would be
difficult to develop consistent and meaningful security procedures.

Users were enthusiastic about the new system and were ready fto participate in the
implementation.

The OIG was pleased that OAS had chosen a proven system, and was pleased management
had chosen not to modify the system.

The risk of system unavailability was low because of sufficient user experience with manual
procedures.

The Oracle Government Financials test and production environments are on the same
platform. Test and production data are therefore under the same Oracle Database Server.

No network monitoring/tuning tools were available.

Some responsibilities within the MIS were not properly segregated.

Annual leave had been inappropriately authorized in the MIS section for December and
January.

No information systems security function was planned.

Program change control procedures had not been prepared.

MIS development staff were not adequately involved in the implementation or the training.

Leo 8. Rowe Pan American Fund of the OAS

@

OIG believed that the Fund Secretary had not actively pursued the collection of delinquent
debts. The referral of a limited number of loans to a collection agency is not adequately
utihizing resources.

Fund Management had asked to write off some of the loans, however, the list of loans to
write off was incomplete. All loans with no activity since 1993 should be written off.
Requirements had been violated by granting changes in contract terms, particularly reduction
in payments and extensions of first payment, without proper justification and/or Committee
approval.

Loan conditions did not always agree with the regulations.

Employees who received loans were allowed to delay repayment past the 60 months that
were approved by the regulations and employees were not put on a required repayment
schedule.

The Fund had not always carried out instruction/directives issued by the Secretariat and does
not always report to the Committee on the status of directives.

The Rowe Fund’s system needed to be updated and was not Y2K compliant.

There 1s a need for adequate written procedures to ensure loans are recorded and reconciled
and to administer collections and perform directives from the Committee.
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INSPECTIONS

As previously mentioned, the OIG conducted 2 Inspections, both away from Headquarters.

Technical Cooperation Program for the Consolidation of Peace and Reintegration in
Nicaragua

e The OAS has a high degree of credibility in Nicaragua.

e The beginning of the network of human rights is in place.

® The strengthening of the State at the local level, especially the support of the mayors in the
Program zone, 1s beneficial.

e Satisfactory attention is being paid to the victim of mines.

Evaluation of Internal Controls in the Nicaragua National office for the Execution of the
Housing Construction Project

e Iniemal controls were in place to ensure that OAS regulations are complied with and
OAS/Nicaragua was complying with the regulations

INVESTIGATIONS

As previously mentioned, the OIG conducted four investigations, two of which identified
systemic issues for the OAS. The reports that identified wider concern are summarized below.

Improper Disposition of Publications

e The functions of production and distribution of publications are separate areas and the OIG
believed a lack of coordination between these groups had led to a significant accumulation of
publications around the OAS.

e OAS did not have a policy regarding the disposition of publications. Publications are not
considered assets, and so the requirements for asset disposition do not apply. However,
these publications are expensive to produce, and some are funded through voluntary
contributions. Therefore, these publications should be treated as assets, with useful lives.

e A clear and coherent policy regarding the production, storage, and distribution of
publications including the definition of their useful lives and their final disposition was
necessary and publications should go through the normal process for disposition of assets.

Disbursements against Expired Accounts

e SEDI had not provided effective management to ensure compliance with CEPCIDI
resolutions related to the use of expired accounts and DFS did not take appropriate and
timely action to ensure the effective management of OAS resources and the timely recording
of financial transactions o maintain adequate internal accounting controls.
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e Better and more timely communication is needed between DFS and SEDI regarding
irregularities in project expenditure, particularly in situations indicating noncompliance with
disbursement deadlines and CEPCIDI resolutions.
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CHAPTER 3

COMMENTS RELATING TO THE OPERATIONS OF
THE OFFICE OF INSPECTOR GENERAL

In past years, the Board members expressed concern about the OIG’s audit coverage, staffing,
follow-up on audit recommendations, planning, and inclusion of management comments in
reports. As discussed in chapter 2, the OIG performed 70% of their audits at Headquarters. The
Board feels this mix of work between Headquarters and projects away from Headquarters is
appropriate and is pleased to see that the OIG is stressing reviews at Headquarters. As the
Board indicated in the past, it believes that although there are areas of high risk at the National
Offices, the most significant operations are conducted at Headquarters. Therefore, the most
significant audit coverage should also be performed at Headquarters.

The Board members would also like to note four other areas that have been discussed in earlier
reports and one new issue.

Partnership with Other Auditing Groups

The Board understands the OIG has limited staffing resources to fulfill its vital role. One of
areas that is a drain on resources is travel to Offices Away from Headquarters. Although the IG
would like to limit these costs, oversight over these Offices. The Board recommends that the
OIG pursue a partmership with other auditing organizations in the Western Hemisphere, with the
mtent of having these organizations assist in performing some of the reviews in the Offices Away
from Headquarters. The Board believes that this would be particularly beneficial for reviews of
CIDI projects and National Offices. For instance, the Board recommends that the OIG pursue a
working relationship with the Latin American and Canbbean Organization of Supreme Audit
Institutions (OLACEFS). The Board believes that this would better leverage OIG resources,
while still ensuring an adequate presence in the Offices Away from Headquarters.

Staffing

In its 1997 Report, the Board reiterated that staffing in the OIG was below the appropriate level
and suggested that an auditor with computer experience would be especially beneficial. Reviews
of the new MIS program will be vital in the upcoming years, and therefore, the OIG should have
qualified personnel to examine this area. We understand that staffing has been reduced
Organization-wide; however, we believe that adequate staffing within the OIG is vital to ensure
that adequate internal conirols are maintained within OAS, especially vital considering the
staffing constraints in the QOAS.

Since the last meeting, the number of positions in the OIG had not increased and so the OIG had
not been able to hire an auditor with computer expertise. However, the 1G has decided to fill the
currently vacant Deputy 1G position with a professional auditor with computer expertise who is
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also familiar with the Oracle environment. The Board believes that this is a beneficial plan and is
a reasonable use of limited resources. By hiring an auditor with computer expertise at this high
level, the OIG should be able to hire an individual with significant experience who would be able
to provide guidance to the rest of the staff The Board recommends that the OIG and the
Secretary General quickly act on this plan, in order to have the expertise available as the
implementation of the Oracle system progresses and as Y2K approaches.

In its 1997 Report, the Board expressed some concem about the OIG creating a position in
Panama with a junior auditor who would require a significant amount of traming. Because of
limited staff positions, the Board wanted to ensure that experienced people filled any available
positions. The Board was also concerned with the supervision and guidance that would be given
to this employee since she was away from Headquarters. The Board recommended that the OIG
reconsider maintaining an employee away from Headquarters. The Board is pleased that the IG
carefully reviewed this situation and concluded that in order to ensure maximum utlization of
resources, the position should be relocated to Headquarters.

Audit Follow-up

The IG indicated that there continues to be a high degree of compliance with the OIG
recommendations. The OIG has successfully established a system to track actions on
recommendations. The OIG also began to prioritize some of the recommendations to assist the
OAS to make decisions as to how to most effectively utilize their scarce resources and o
understand those recommendations that require immediate implementation,

Planning

In the past, the Board noted that the OIG planned its audits using a cyclical methodology,
although other work was done as needed. The Board is pleased that the OIG modified their
planning methodology to ensure that high-risk areas are focused upon. The OIG’s work plan
places particular emphasis on high- risk areas identified by the Board and special requests from
the Permanent Council or the Secretary General. Audit activities are focused toward areas with
the highest degree of risk and that promote economy, efficiency, and effectiveness in General
Secretariat operations and all OAS programs and projects. Considering the minimal staffing
availability, it is important for the OIG to focus on the most significant issue

The Board has reviewed the OIG’s 1999 work plan and feels that it is appropriate and that it
focuses on a number of high-risk areas, such as internal controls in DF S, and the new computer
system implementation. The Board strongly recommends that the OIG continue to focus
attention on the development of the new MIS system and outsourcing. We recommend that the
OIG continue reviewing the Board’s annual report and E&Y’s annual report to identify high-risk
areas.
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0AS Comments to OIG Reports

Last year the Board noted that there was no formal policy for the consideration and inclusion of
auditee’s comments in OIG reports. The Board felt that obtaining formal comments to OIG
reports and carefully considering the inclusion of the auditee’s comments in OIG reports would
lead to more balanced and accurate audit reports. The IG reported that the OIG discusses all
findings and recommendations with auditees, and all comments from the auditees are taken into
consideration prior to finalizing each report. The Board is pleased with this effort and believes it
will ensure that the audit reports are balanced. However, the Board would like to again
recommend that written comments be obtained from the auditees and included as an appendix to
each report.
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CHAPTER 4

COMMENTS RELATING TO THE LEO S. ROWE PAN AMERICAN FUND

The Rowe Pan American Fund is a trust fund established to provide loans to students from
member countries, other than residents and citizens of the U.S., and make loans to OAS
employees for educational and emergency purposes. During 1998, the fund eamed $878,637
and the total net assets increased from $10,100,515 for the year ended December 31, 1997 to
$10,782,802 for the year ended December 31, 1998,

In the past, the Board had found that a significant number of loans were in arrears. In 1998, 113
loans, worth approximately $116,500, that had no activity since 1993 were written off. In
addition, 74 loans had been submitted to a collection agent. The collection agency indicated that
22 of the loans were uncollectible because they were past the statute of limitations. Fifty-two
loans are still with the collection agent; they have reported that 23 can probably not be collected
and another 29 are still pending. Collection efforts are difficult for students that return to their
home countries -- especially when the guarantor also resides outside of the U.S. In addition, the
OIG and E&Y 1dentified more loans that have had no activity since before 1993 that need to be
written off.

The Board was also concerned with the internal controls surrounding the administration of the
loans. Yor instance, loan agreements were not always complete, contract terms were changed
without proper support, and extensions were granted without Committee approval. The Director
of Fellowships and the Secretary of the Rowe Fund have assured the Board that they have taken
a recent OIG report related to needed improvements very seriously, and are currently working
with the Commuttee to reengineer the process and fo sirengthen internal controls. They estimated
that most of the improvements could be done by the end of the year. In their opinion, one
significant area to resolve is the need for an adequate system to track the Rowe loans, although
DMSI is pursuing various alternatives.

The Board is pleased with the attention that is being paid to the OIG’s recommendations and
would like to stress a few areas for consideration. The Board recommends that the Rowe Fund
make a greater effort in managing its loans. Although the Board is not encouraging a change of
philosophy, it believes that the requirements could be tightened, while still maintaining the spirit
of the program. A beneficial area to start would be to execute the agreements that are held with
the guarantors for loans which students default on. Although the Board recommends that loans
that are uncollectible be removed from the accounting records, the Board does not want this done
prematurely; every reasonable effort should be made to collect these loans. The Board also
recommends that the Rowe Fund management work with DMSI to effectively deterntine the
most appropriate way to track loans, and to quickly pursue the planned action.
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CHAPTER S

COMMENTS RELATING TO THE PENSION AND RETIREMENT FUND

The Retirement and Pension Fund is comprised of the Retirement and Pension Plan (Plan) and
the Provident Plan. The Plan is a contributory plan maintained for the benefit of all “regular”
OAS employees and other affiliated agencies. The Provident Plan is maintained for certain “non-
regular” employees of the OAS and other affiliated agencies. During the past few years, the
Pension Fund had been having difficulties getting information from its Custodians and its
actuaries in a timeframe that would allow E&Y to complete the audit of their financial statements
in time to be included with the Board’s annual report, which is due to the Permanent Council no
later than April 30. Over the past two years, the Board has worked with both the Pension Fund

management and E&Y to develop better communications between the groups and to establish
reasonable timeframes.

The Board was pleased to see the great improvements in timeliness and communications that
was evidenced by the fact that the Pension Fund’s financial statements were completed and
audited within the Board’s timeframes. We are aware of the significant group effort between
Pension Fund management, the Pension Fund’s Custodian, the actuary, and E&Y. The Board
would like to express its appreciation for the hard work and commend everyone involved. The
Board recommends that the Pension Fund management continue to strive for timely completion
of the financial statements and the audit.
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Washington, D.C. 20036

Independent Auditor's Report on Compliance

Board of External Auditors
Organization of American States

We have audited the financial statements of the funds of the Organization of American States
(the Organization) as of and for the year ended December 31, 1998, as listed in the

accompanying table of contents, and have issued our report (the Audit Report) thereon dated
March 23, 1999,

We conducted our audits in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards and the
external auditing requirements prescribed in Chapter IX of the Genera] Standards of the
Organization of American States. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audits
to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material
misstatement.

Compliance with the rules and regulations of the Organization (rules and regulations) is the
responsibility of the Organization's management. As part of obtaining reasonable assurance
about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement, we performed tests of
the Organization's compliance with provisions included in Chapters 111, IV, VII and IX of the
General Standards. However, the objective of our audit of the financial statements was not to
provide an opinion on overall compliance with such provisions. Accordingly, we do not
express such an opinion.

We also tested certain specific expenditures of senior executives concerning executive
compensation, travel, official entertainment, contracting and consulting services, speaking
honoraria and gifts, and executive perquisites for compliance with the Organization's Staff
Rules and Chapters III and IX of the General Standards.

The results of our tests indicate that with respect to the items tested, the Organization complied,
in all material respects, with the provisions referred to above. We noted certain immaterial
instances of noncompliance with the rules and regulations in the following areas: unliquidated
obligations and fixed assets. Qur comments on certain of these matters have been reported to
the Board of External Auditors in separate correspondence dated March 23, 1999.

This report is intended solely for the information of the Board of External Auditors, the General
Secretariat, Permanent Council, and the General Assembly of the Organization and is not
intended to be and should not be used by anyone other than these specified parties.

March 23, 1999

Ernst & Young Lir is @ member of Ernst & Young International, Lid.
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ORGANIZATION OF AMERICAN STATES

RESPONSIBILITY FOR FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The General Secretariat has prepared and is responsible for the integrity of the financial data included
n the accompanying financial statements. The statements have been prepared in conformity with
accounting practices prescribed by the Budgetary and Financial Rules of the Organization which include
the financially oriented General Standards to Govern the Operations of the General Secretariat and other
provisions approved by the General Assembly.

The accounting practices utilized by the General Secretariat differ in certain respects from generally
accepted accounting principles customarily applied in the presentation of financial statements. A
description of the significant differences from generally accepted accounting principles is set forth in
Note 3 to the financial statements. The General Secretariat maintains an accounting system and related
conirols to provide reasonable assurance that financial records are reliable for preparing financial
statements. The system includes a program of internal audit to provide assurance that proper procedures
and methods of operations are used to implement plans, policies and directives of the General Secretariat.

In addition, the Board of External Auditors, which consists of three members elected by the General
Assembly, is authorized to audit all accounts, funds, and operations of the Organization. The Board of
Exiernal Auditors has engaged the services of the independent accounting firm of Ernst & Young LLP
to audit the financial statements. Their opinion on the financial statements is based on auditing
procedures which include a review of internal conirol and selected tests of transactions and records.
These anditing procedures are intended to provide a reasonable level of assurance that the financial
statements are fairly stated in all material respects. The Board periodically meeis with the independent
auditors, officials of the General Secretariat, and internal auditors to review and evaluate accounting,
auditing and financial reporting activities and responsibilities. The Board of External Auditors, the
independent auditors as well as the internal auditors have unlimited access to all records maintained by
the General Secretariat.
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Washington, D.C. 20036

Report of Independent Auditors

Board of External Auditors
Organization of American States

We have audited the combined financial statements of the funds of the Organization of American
States (the Organization) as of December 31, 1998 and for the year then ended, listed in the
accompanying table of contents on page II-9 herein. These financial statements are the
responsibility of the Organization's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on
these financial statements based on our audits,

We conducted our audits in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards and the
external auditing requirements prescribed in Chapter IX of the General Standards of the
Organization of American States. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to
obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and
disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles
used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial
statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

As described in Note 3, the Organization of American States prepares its financial statements on
the basis of accounting practices prescribed by the Budgetary and Financial Rules (which include
the applicable financially-oriented General Standards adopted by the General Assembly of the
Organization of American States) which is a comprehensive basis of accounting other than
generally accepted accounting principles.

In our opinion, the financial statements listed in the accompanying table of contents present
fairly, in all material respects, the combined funds' assets, habilities and fund balances for the
funds of the Organization of American States referred to above at December 31, 1998, and the
changes in fund balances for the year then ended on the basis of accounting described in Note 3.

Our audits have been made primarily for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the basic
financial statements listed in the accompanying table of contenis for the funds of the
Organization of American States referred to in the first paragraph of this report taken as a whole.
The accompanying supplementary information in Schedules 1 through 8 is presented for
purposes of additional analysis and is not a required part of the basic financial statements. Such
supplementary information has been subjected to the procedures applied in the audits of the basic
financial statements and, in our opinion is fairly stated in all material respects in relation to the
basic financial statements mentioned above taken as a whole.

Ernst & Young w.? is a member of Ernst & Young International, L1d.
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Ell EFRNST& YOUNG LLP

We have previously audited and expressed an unqualified opinion on the financial statements of
the above funds of the Organization of American States as of and for the year ended December
31, 1996, summarized comparative information from which is presented herein.

March 23, 1999
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ORGANIZATION OF AMERICAN STATES

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 1998 AND 1996

1. Organization and Financial Statements

The General Secretariat is the central and permanent organ of the Organization of American States
(OAS). To ensure observance of limitations and restrictions placed on the use of resources available to
the OAS, the accounts of the OAS are maintained in accordance with fund accounting principles.
Separate accounts are maintained for each fund. In the accompanying financial statements, the funds
administered by the General Secretariat are grouped in the following categories, according to their source
of financing and purpose:

Regular Fund- financed mainly by the assessment of quotas to the member states and contributions from
certain other OAS funds (see Note 3D). The purpose of this fund is to provide the General Secretariat
with general support as well as technical supervision and administrative services to the programs. In
addition to the activities of the General Secretariat, the following activities are financed through
budgetary appropriations of the Regular Fund and are included in the financial statements of the Regular
Fund:

General Assembly

Permanent Council of the OAS

Inter-American Commission of Human Rights
Inter-American Commission of Women
Inter-American Council for Integral Development
Inter-American Juridical Committee

Inter-American Children's Institute

Inter-American Court on Human Rights
Inter-American Commission for Drug Abuse Control
Inter-American Telecommunications Commission

2 ® 8 & o @ © © @ @

The Special Mulfilateral Fund of the Inter-dmerican Council for Integral Development (FEMCIDI)-
financed mainly by voluntary contributions of the member states to support the programs adopted by the
Council and approved by the General Assembly. FEMCIDI finances the multilateral and national
cooperation programs, projects and activities of the Inter-American Council for Integral Development
(CID).

Specific Funds and Funds from Special Contributions {Specific Funds)- financed by grants or
bequests to finance activities specified by the donor or legator, and any other contributions by national
or International, public or private entities, for carrying out or strengthening specific activities or
programs of the General Secretariat. These funds also include designated funds which have been
segregated for specific purposes and whose use is restricted through designation by the General
Assembly or the General Secretariat.

I-16



1. Organization and Financial Statements (Continued)

The financial position and changes in fund balances of the Regular and Special Multilateral Funds are
reflected in Exhibits 1 and 2 on a combined basis. In addition, the financial position and changes in fimd
balances of the Specific Funds are shown in Exhibit 3 on a combined basis.

A. Operations Subfund

Quota and voluntary pledge contributions and the corresponding costs incurred in carrying out
the budgetary activities of the funds are included in the accompanying financial statements,
where applicable, as operations subfund activity.

B. Reserve Subfund
Reserve subfunds have been established and are financed under the following criteria:

I Regular Fund - Reserve Subfund

This subfund is a contingency reserve to provide for the continuous functioning of the
regular activities of the General Secretariat. In accordance with the General Standards to
Govem the Operations of the General Secretariat (General Standards), the excess of income
over obligations and expenditures of the Operations Subfund is to be added to the Reserve
Subfimd. To the extent that there is a Reserve Subfund balance, excess obligations and
expenditures over income in the Operations Subfund is covered by a transfer from the
Reserve Subfund. In addition, the General Standards permit the temporary use of the
Reserve Subfund to finance Regular Fund expenditures pending the receipt of anticipated

income. As of December 31, 1998, the Reserve Subfimd shows a deficit balance of
$952,000.

II. FEMCIDI - Reserve Subfund

This subfund is a contingency reserve to ensure the normal and continuous financial
operation of FEMCIDI until the General Secretariat receives pledged contributions. The

amount of this Reserve Subfund shall be equivalent to 3% of the FEMCIDI’s pledge
collections.

C. Other Entities and Specialized Organizations
The assets and liabilities at December 31, 1998 and 1996, and the related income and expenses
for the year then ended, of the following organizations, which are subject to separate budgetary

control and financial reporting, are not included within the accompanying financial statements
of the OAS:

1I-17



1. Organization and Financial Statements (Continuned)
C. Other Entities and Specialized Organizations (Continued)

Inter-American Defense Board *

Inter-American Indian Institute

Inter-American Institute for Cooperation on Agriculture*
Inter-American Library Simon Bolivar *
Inter-American Music Council *

Leo S. Rowe Pan American Fund *

OAS Medical Benefits Trust Fund *

OAS Retirement and Pension Fund *

Pan American Development Foundation *

Pan American Health Organization

Pan American Instifute of Geography and History
Rowe Memorial Benefit Fund *

® & ® & & © © 6 © © © 6

2. Change in Financial Reporting Period

Effective January 1, 1998, the Organization changed its budgetary reporting period from a biennial to
an anmual cycle as authorized by an amendment to Article 77 of the General Standards. The General
Standards further provide that appropriations shall be available to meet the obligations incurred during
the year for which they were approved. Regular Fund appropriations may be extended, but only to the
extent necessary to liquidate the obligations pending at the close of the year for which they were
approved, but not beyond December 31 of the following year at which time they expire irrevocably,

3. Accounting Principles

The accompanying financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the Budgetary and
Financial Rules of the OAS (Rules). The Rules provide the basis for the accounting principles applied
i the preparation of the financial statements. The Rules were adopted to meet budgetary and other
requirements of the OAS and, as such, result in accounting principles and a financial statement display
which vary in certain material respects from generally accepted accounting principles. The significant
deviations from generally accepted accounting principles are as follows:

A. The General Secretariat deems it impractical to evatuate the collectibility of assessed
but incoliected quotas and voluntary pledges outstanding; therefore, quotas and pledges
are mcluded in the financial statements of the various funds only to the extent collected.

Contributions from member states and from other interested parties for specific
purposes are similarly recorded at the time of collection.

*Recipients of cash and/or in kind contributions or administrative services from the Regular Fund.

II-18



3. Accounting Principles (Continued)

B. Unliquidated obligations in certain funds include amounts related to commitments

resulting from offers made by the funds to member states or other institutions to
disburse monies for the procurement of goods or services in future periods. Such
amounts do not represent liabilities or unrelated third party commitments at the end
of the respective periods. They represent amounts anticipated to be expended in the
subsequent year in the completion of a particular program or activity.

. The OAS provides certain benefits to its employees which accrue to them during
periods of employment and are payable at various times during employment or upon
separation, whether vohmtary or invohimtary. Costs for such employee benefits have
historically been recorded upon payment rather than as such benefits accrue.

These expenditures for the year ended December 31, 1998 and 1996 are as follows:

1998 1996

Home Travel $ 193,000 $ 193,000
Repatniation of Family and

Household Goods upon Separation 180,000 144,000
Separation Indemnity and Termination

Pay 1,235,000 1,238,000
Medical Benefits Subsequent to

Separation 1,293,000 965,000
Total $2,871,000 $2,540,000

Unrecorded earned annual and special leave approximated $9,371,000 and
$14,602,000 at December 31, 1998 and 1996, respectively.

. The General Assembly of the OAS adopts a consolidated program-budget which
includes the budgets for the Regular Fund and FEMCIDI. In the consolidated
budget, the amounts appropriated for substantially all approved (career) personnel
costs are included in the Regular Fund's budget. In addition, certain other
administrative costs benefiting all funds are included in the budget of the Regular
Fund. Inlieu of allocating these costs to various funds on a services-rendered basis,
the General Assembly has provided that the other funds pay a contribution to the
Regular Fund for administrative and technical support. The amount of the
contribution may not bear a direct relationship to the actual cost of the services
provided to those funds during the period.

. The Combined Statement of Assets, Liabilities and Fund Balances of the Regular
Fund and FEMCIDI include certain amounts to be charged against fuiure
appropriations. These expenditures are deferred as a means of budgetary financing
and not because of or in relation to benefits which may accrue to future periods.
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3. Accounting Principles (Continued)

F. The Statements of Assets, Liabilities and Fund Balances of the Regular and Special
Multilateral Fund do not include unexpended advances issued in the performance of
certain OAS programs (See Note 9),

G. Contributions from member states and other interested parties in the form of use of
facilities and services are received by certain of the activities of the funds administered
by the General Secretariat. No amounts are recorded in the accompanying financial
statements relating to the use of such facilities or services inasmuch as the General
Secretariat deems their value inestimable.

H. A Cash Flow Statement is not provided and certain other provisions pertaining to
generally accepted accounting principles related to financial statement display are not
applied. In addition, unrealized gains/(losses) on investments are not included in
income and investments are not recorded at fair market value.

4. Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statemenits requires management to make estimates and assumptions that
affect the amounts reported in the financial statements and accompanying notes. Actual results could
differ from those estimates.

5. Reclassifications

In 1998, the tax reimbursement fund and certain internal service funds are presented as part of the
Specific Funds. These fimds were previously consolidated in the Regular Fund. In order to permit
comparability between accounting periods, the 1996 statements {(Exhibits 1 and 3) have been modified
to reflect these changes.

6. Equity in OAS Treasury Fund

All U.S. dollars available for use in carrying out the activities of the various-fimds of the OAS are
consolidated in the OAS Treasury Fund. The Regular Fund, the Special Multilateral Fund and the
Specific Funds maintain equity to the extent of their cash balances retained therein. The OAS Treasury
Fund is adminsstered by the General Secretariat and amounts not immediately required for operations
are invested. Subject to certain conditions, income eamned by the OAS Treasury Fund is added to the
equities of the various funds in propertion to their equity balances.

=20



6. Equity in QAS Treasury Fund {Continued)

The composition of the OAS Treasury Fund on December 31 is as follows:

1998 1996

Demand and Time Deposils, net of $898,000
and $7,433,000 representing drafis not presented for
payment at December 31, 1998 and 1996,

respectively $ 14,193,900 5 914,000
Overnight Repurchase Agreements 1,788,000 9,472,000
United States Treasury Notes at amortized cost

(approximate market value of $41,441,000 and

$63,169,000 at December 31, 1998 and 1996

respectively) ! 40,092,600 62,922,000
Accrued Interest Receivable 796,000 1,125,000
Local Currency at OAS National Offices 291,000 430,000

357,160,000 $74,867,000
Less Equity of:

Retirement and Pension Fund (267,000) (807,000)

Trust Funds (Rowe, Medical Benefits) 97,000) (89,000)
Add:

Petty Cash and Cash in Transit 19,600 25,000
Equity in Exhibits 1 and 3 $56,815,000 $73,996,000

7. Foreign Currencies

Certain income and expense transactions during 1998 and 1996 were in currencies other than United
States dollars. These transactions have been translated into United States dollar equivalents at rates of
exchange in effect at the time of the transactions, Foreign currency assets included in the accompanying
financial statements, consisting principally of cash and time deposits ($291,000 and $430,000 as of
December 31, 1998 and 1996, respectively) have been translated into United States dollars at the
applicable exchange rates at the time of the transactions. Certain of these currencies are restricted as to
convertibility and, therefore, must be utilized in OAS activities.

1 Maturities of US Treasury Notes at December 31, 1998,

Approx. Market
Amortized Cost Values

Current (1 year or less) $10,018,000 $ 10,106,000
1 -5 years $29,119,000 $ 30,280,000
6 — 8 years $ 955000 $ 1,055,000

$ 40,092,000 $41,441,000
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8. Land, Buildings and Equipment

The General Secretariat follows the practice of charging to current fiscal period's appropriations the
amount disbursed in acquiring real property, equipment, and works of art and subsequently capitalizing
such acquisitions in a separate Fixed Assets Fund. This practice allows the QAS to continue to reflect
those expenditures for fixed assets against the amounts appropriated for such purposes while, at the same
time, presenting them as capitalized assets on the Combined Statement of Assets, Liabilities and Fund
Balances.

Such assets acquired by the Regular Fund with associated Iong-term debt are capitalized in the amount
of the total cost including the long-term debt. That portion of the Regular Fund's purchases not financed
by long-term debt is included in Investment in land, buildings and equipment.

The associated debt is then amortized against current and future years' appropriations ($924,000 in 1998
and $772,000 in 1996) to provide for current mortgage payments (See Note 12).

Land, buildings and equipment are recorded at cost and depreciated on a straight-line basis over their
estimated useful lives. The composition of fixed assets at December 31, was as follows:

Asset Depreciation Basis 1998 1996
Land -not depreciated § 5491305 £ 35491305
Buildings 50 yeats 31,305,024 30,497,618
Vehicles - 5 years 2,055,825 1,797,442
Tumiture and Equipment -10 years 6,032,312 7,310,600
Technical Machinery and Equipment -10 years 7,815,840 7,340,029
Works of Art -not depreciated 2,095,817 1,898.217
54,796,123 54,335,211
Less: Accumulated Depreciation (20,879,868) (19,240,344)
Book Value as of December 31 $ 33,916,255 8 35,094,867

Only those assets under direct control of the General Secretariat at ifs headquarters, iis offices in the
member states and certain assets within the missions are included in the financial statemenis.

9. Accountable Advances

In the performance of various activities, the administrators of the various funds may deem it necessary
to advance funds for the conduct of a program or a specific event prior to the actual occurrence of the
expenses. In the opinion of the administrators of the funds, such action is necessary to assure the timely
performance of such activities. Recipients of advances are required to submit an accounting or suitable
supporting documentation for the resulting expenditures in a form deemed adequate by the administrators
of the funds and by the Department of Financial Services. Advances of this nature are recorded as
expenditures in the period in which funds are advanced. Advances for which a subsequent accounting
was required at December 31, 1998 and 1996, were as follows:

1998 1996
Regular Fund $42,000 $£134,000
Temporary Special Multilateral Fund - 343,000
342,000 $477,000
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18. Coniributiens to Specific Funds

Contributions to Specific Funds during the year ended December 31, 1998, as reflected in Exhibit 3 of
the accompanying financial statements were as follows:

Regular

Contributor FEMCIDI Total
Fund

Members:

Argentina $ 654043 3 - § 654,943
Bolivia 158,731 - 158,731
Brazil - 1,827,806 1,927,806
Canada 510,306 - 510,306
Chile 32,000 202,027 324,027
Colombia 141,372 83,479 224,851
Costa Rica 34,101 - 34,101
Dominica 6,279 - 6,279
Dominican Rep. 32,980 - 32,980
Ecuador 2,500 25,066 27,566
El Salvador 15,221 - 15221
Guatemala 474225 47,923 522,148
Haiti 20,400 - 20,400
Honduras 37,566 80,008 117,574
Jamaica 13,044 - 13,044
Mexico 64,900 739,624 804,524
Panama - 1,618,154 1,618,154
Peru 7,950 - 7,950
Trinidad & Tobage 16,100 - 16,100
United States 20341021 355,000 20,696,021
Uruguay 11,460 50,944 62,404
Venezuela 191.234 - 191,234
Observers;

European E.C. 191,969 378,966 570,935
Finland 82,692 - 82,692
France 72,7927 - 72,727
Germany 30,265 342,638 372,903
Japan 263,000 - 263,000
Netherlands 202,823 - 202,823
Spain 328,939 - 328,939
Swedern 2,469,595 - 2,469,595
United Kingdom 41,575 - 41,575
Non Members and Others:

Denmark 1,769,760 - 1,769,760
Norway 1,497,708 - 1,497,708
IA Development Bank 611,277 57,000 708,277
United Nations 33210 2097174 2,130,384
World Bank - 856,199 856,199
Others 3,550,082 538,764 4,088 846
TOTAL $33,911,955 $9.530,772 $43,442,727

1123



11. Tax Reimbursements

Tax reimbursements represent amounts assessed or to be assessed to certain member states for
reimbursements made to certain employees of the General Secretariat for income taxes paid to the
respective member state.

12. Long-term Debt

Long-term debt was incurred solely by the Regular Fund under the following terms and conditions:

First Mortgage with Legg Mason Real Estate Services (secured by the General
Secretariat Building (GSB)- 1889 F St.)

Principal Amount at December 31, 1998: $ 7,484,970

Repayment Terms 25 years, due in monthly
installments through October 2004

Annunal Interest Rate 9.375%

Interest Expense during 1998 $ 749282

Amortization of Principal during 1998 $ 923,508

Principal Balance, December 31, 1997 $ 8,408,478

On January 28, 1999, the Organization refinanced through Nations Bank the remaining principal balance
of the mortgage on the GSB Building. The refinancing agreement requires monthly payments through
October 1, 2004 at an interest rate of 6%. Principal payments due for the next five years under the new
agreement are as follows: 1999: $1,050,232; 2000: $1,176,488; 2001: $1,249,052; 2002: $1,326,090;
2003: $1,407,881.

13. Leases

The General Secretariat leases certain facilities and equipment. Rental expense for such leases was
approximately $633,000 and $663,000 for the year ended December 31, 1998 and 1996, respectively.
Aggregate rentals subsequent to December 31, 1998 are not significant.

14. Retirement Plans

All qualified employees of the General Secretariat are participants in either the Retirement and Pension
Plan or the Provident Plan. The plans are funded by the General Secretariat, other participating agencies
and employee contributions at fixed percentages of salaries. Pension expense aggregated approximately
$6,349,000 i 1998 and $7,482,000 in 1996.
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14, Retirement Plans {Continued)

As of December 31, 1998 accumulated plan benefits and plan net assets were as follows:

Actuarial present value of accumulated plan benefits:

Vested $218,422 000
Nonvested $ 15.696.000
Total at December 31, 1998: $234,118.000
Net Plan Assets Available for Benefits: $393.772,000

The weighted average assumed rate of return used in determining the actuarial present value of
accumulated plan benefits was 8.5%.

In addifion to the retirement plan described above, the General Secretariat provides a lifetime annuity
to former Secretaries General and Assistant Secretaries General with survival benefits for their spouses
and has extended pension benefits to certain former staff members with expired fixed term pensions. The
cost of these annuities, $295,000 in 1998 and $291,000 in 1996, is budgeted and recognized in the year
paid. The approximate present value of estimated future paymenis of $4.2 million, and $4.1 million at
December 31, 1998 and December 31, 1996, respectively, is reflected in the Statement of Assets,
Liabilities and Fund Balance of the Regular Fund.

15. Post Employment Health Care and Life Insurance Benefits

In addifion to providing pension benefits as described in Note 14 above, the General Secretariat provides
health care and Life insurance benefits for retirees and their dependents. The cost of health care is
partially borne by the retirees. The cost 1o the General Secretariat for its portion of the health care as
well as the life insurance is recognized when paid. For the years ended 1998 and 1996, those costs were
$1,465,000 and $1,135,000 respectively.

16. Staff Claims

There are a number of pending and threatened actions before the Administrative Tribunal (Tribunal) n
which it 1s alleged that the Secretary General has taken administrative measures which have adversely
affected the interest of the complaining staff members.
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16. Staff Ciaims (Continued)

On May 13, 1994, the Tribunal rendered Judgment No. 124 in favor of some 500 complaining stafl
members and former staff members related to non-application of the cost-of-living provision of the salary
policy adopted in 1983. The Judgment gave the General Secretariat the option to pay the value of the
indemnity in leave to current staff members. Thus, in May 1995, the Secretariat, with the approval of
the Permanent Council, implemented a plan under which the indemnities were converted into annual
leave with an estimated value of $6.5 million. The leaveis to be utilized or forfeited, if not used, within
an established schedule. The estimated value of the annual leave associated with Judgement No. 124
at December 31, 1998, is approximately $1.9 million. A number of staff members have filed hearing
requests objecting to the schedule and the mandatory use provisions of the plan.

In the opinion of management, staff claims pending or otherwise threatened will not result in a material
adverse financial effect on the financial condition of the General Secretariat,

17. Contingencies

There are several cases pending in the labor courts of Brazil brought by individuals who allege 1o have
been employees of the General Secretariat. So far, the Brazilian Courts have handed down judgments
in two cases awarding damages of approximately $410,000 against the General Secretariat. In 1998,
one of these judgements ($350,000) was overturned by the Brazlian Labor Court upon appeal.
Additionally there are several claims asserted by others arising from the normal course of the
Organization's activities. In the opinion of management, these cases and assertions will not resultin a
material adverse financial effect on the financial condition of the General Secretariat.

18. Impact of Year 2000 (unaudited)

The Year 2000 Issue is the result of computer programs being written using two digits rather than four
to define the applicable year. Any of the Organization’s computer programs that have time-sensitive
software may recognize a date using “00” as the year 1900 rather than the year 2000. This could result
in system failure or miscalculations causing disruptions of operations, including among other things, a
temporary inability to process transactions and invoices, or engage in normal business activities.

The Organization has completed an assessment and is in the process of modifying or replacing portions
of its software and equipment so that its computer systems will fimction properly with respect to dates
in the year 2000 and after. The project is estimated to be completed no later than Ociober 31, 1999.

The Organization believes that with modifications fo existing software and conversions to new software,
the Year 2000 Issue will not pose significant operational problems for its computer systems. However,
if such modifications and conversions are not made to the remaining Year-2000 non-ready systems, or
are not completed timely, the Year 2000 Issue is not anticipated to have a material impact on the
operations of the OAS.
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SECTION III

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

OF THE ROWE MEMORIAL BENEFIT FUND AND

THE LEO S. ROWE PAN AMERICAN FUND

WITH

REPORTS OF INDEPENDENT AUDITORS






ORGANIZATION OF AMERICAN STATES

ROWE MEMORIAL BENEFIT FUND AND
LEO S. ROWE PAN AMERICAN FUND

The Rowe Funds are trust funds established from monies made available by Dr. Leo S. Rowe, former
Director General of the Pan American Union, the predecessor of the General Secretariat, and are
administered within the General Secretariat by special committees.

Emst & Young LLP has audited the accompanying financial statements of these trust funds and their
opinton on the statements of each fumd is inctuded in this report.

Rowe Memorial Benefit Fund

The Fund is administered by the Rowe Memorial Benefit Fund Conmittee. The Committee is composed
of five ex-officio members who are officers of the General Secretariat.

Beginning in 1931, the assets of the Fund have been accumulated principally by contributions received
from Dr. Rowe during his lifetime and are held in trust to provide certain benefits to staff members of
the General Secretariat.

Leo 8. Rowe Pan American Fund

The Fund 1s administered by the Committee of the Leo §. Rowe Pan American Fund. The Committee
is composed of representatives from four OAS member states, elected by representatives to the

Permanent Council for a four year term and with the Secretary General of the QAS as a permanent
menber.

The Fund was established in 1948 as a trust in accordance with the will of Dr. Rowe. Its purpose is to
provide loans to students from member states other than residents and citizens of the United States and
to make loans to OAS staff members for educationa! purposes or in emergency situations.






ROWE MEMORIAL BENEFIT FUND

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 1998 AND 1997

WITH

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT AUDITORS






Ey ERNgT& yOUNG iiP 8 1225 Connecticut Avenue, N.W, & Phone: 202 327 6000

Washinglon, D.C. 20036

Report of Independent Anditors

Board of External Auditors
Organization of American States

We have audited the accompanying statements of financial position of the Rowe Memorial
Benefit Fund (the Fund) as of December 31, 1998 and 1997, and the related statements of
activities and cash flows for the years then ended. These financial statements are the
responsibility of the Fund's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these
financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards. Those
standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining,
on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An
audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by
management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that
our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects,
the financial position of the Rowe Memorial Benefit Fund at December 31, 1998 and 1997, and
the results of its operations and its cash flows for the years then ended in conformity with
generally accepted accounting principles.

March 12, 1999

Ernst & Young LLP is a mernber of Ernst & Young International, Ltd.
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ORGANIZATION OF AMERICAN STATES

ROWE MEMORIJAL BENEFIT FUND
STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION

December 31
1998 1997
Assets
Equity in OAS Treasury Fund (Note 3) $ 16,512 $ 15791
Investments at market value (Note 4) 279,348 272,289
Total unrestricted net assets $ 295860 $ 288080
STATEMENTS OF ACTIVITIES
Year ended December 31
1998 1997
Income
Dividends and interest b 7,243 5 7,414
Capital gains distributions from mutual funds 11,847 26,158
Realized gains on investments - -
Income from OAS Treasury Fund (Note 3) 1,021 1,071
Change in unrealized gains/{losses) on investments (Note 4) (12,031) 11,724
8,080 46,367
Awards and other benefits (Note 1) (300) (5,960)
Change in unrestricted net assets 7,780 40,407
Unrestricted net assets at beginning of year 288,080 247,673
Unrestricted net assets at end of year F 2953860 5 288,080

See accompanying notes



ORGANIZATION OF AMERICAN STATES

ROWE MEMORIJAL BENEFIT FUND
STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Year ended December 31
1598 1997
Operating activities
Change in net assets $ 71,180 $ 40407
Adjustments to reconcile change in net assets
to net cash provided by operating activities:
Unrealized loss/(gain) on investments 12,031 (11,724)
Net cash provided by operating activities 19,811 28,683
Investing activities
Purchase of securities (19,090) (33,573)
Net cash used in investing activities {19,090) (33,573)
Net increase /(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 721 (4,890)
Eqguity in OAS Treasury fund at beginming of year _ 15,791 20,681
Equity in OAS Treasury fund at end of year ] $ 16,512 $ 15,791

See accompanying notes
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ORGANIZATION OF AMERICAN STATES

ROWE MEMORIAL BENEFIT FUND
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 1998 AND 1997

1. Organization and Financing

The assets of the Rowe Memorial Benefit Fund (Fund) have been accumulated principally from
contributions received from Dr. Leo S. Rowe, a former Director General of Pan American Union. These
assets are held in trust to provide certain welfare benefits for employees of the OAS. Administrative
functions of the Fund are provided without charge by the General Secretariat of the OAS. No amounts
are recorded in the accompanying financial statements relating to the use of services and facilities
provided to the Fund as no objective basis is available to measure the value of such contributions.

2. Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements requires management to make estimates and assumptions that
affect the amounts reported in the financial statements and accompanying notes. Actual results could
differ from those estimates.

3. Equity in OAS Treasury Fund

All U.S. dollars available for use in carrying out the activities of the various funds of the OAS are
consolidated in the OAS Treasury Fund. Each fund administered by the General Secretariat maintains
an equify to the extent of its cash balance retained therein  The QAS Treasury Fund is administered by
the General Secretariat and amounts not immediately required for operations are invested. Income
eamed by the OAS Treasury Fund is added to the equity of each fund in proportion to its balance.

4. Investments

In 1996, the Fund adopted Financial Accounting Standard No. 124 (FAS 124), " Accounting for Certain
Investments Held by Not-For-Profit Organizations". FAS 124 requires the Fund to report investments
in equity securities with readily determinable market values and all investments in debt securities at
market value with gains and losses included in the statement of activity.

m-11



4. Investments {Continued)

Investments are presented in the financial statements at market value as determined by the latest available
published or brokers' prices.

Mutunal Funds Invested in Equity and Fixed Income Securities

(in thousands)
Gross Gross Net Approxzimate
Cost Unrealized Unrealized Unrealized TMarket
Gains Losses Gains Value
December 31, 1998 $257 $23 $(1) $22 $279
Pecember 31, 1997 $238 $33 $(1) $34 $272

5. Impact of Year 2000 (unaudited)

The Year 2000 Issue is the result of computer programs being written using two digits rather
than four to define the applicable year. Any of the OAS’ computer programs that have time-
sensitive software may recognize a date using “00” as the year 1900 rather than 2000. This
could result in system failure or miscalculations causing disruptions of operations, including
among other things, a temporary inability to process transactions, and invoices, or engage in
normal business activities.

The Organization has completed an assessment and is in the process of modifying or replacing
a portion of its sofiware and equipment so that its computer systems will function properly with
respect to dates in the year 2000 and after. The project is estimated to be completed no later
than October 31, 1999,

The Organization believes that with modifications to existing sofiware and conversions to new
software, the Year 2000 Issue will not pose significant operational problems for its computer
systems. However, if such modifications and conversions are not made, or are not completed
timely, the Year 2000 Issue is not anticipated to have a material impact on the operations of the
OAS.

HI-12



LEO 5. ROWE PAN AMERICAN FUND

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 1998 AND 1997

WITH

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT AUDITORS
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ﬂ ERNST& %/QUN@ E.LP & 1225 Connecticut Avenue, N.W. & Phone: 202 327 6000

Washington, D.C. 20036

Report of Independent Auditors

Board of External Auditors
Organization of American States

We have audited the accompanying statements of financial position of the Leo S. Rowe Pan
American Fund (the Fund) as of December 31, 1998 and 1997, and the related statements of
activities and cash flows for the years then ended. These financial statements are the
responsibility of the Fund's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these
financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards. Those
standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining,
on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An
audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by
management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that
our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects,
the financial position of the Leo S. Rowe Pan American Fund at December 31, 1998 and 1997,
and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the years then ended in conformity with
generally accepted accounting principles.

March 12, 1999

Eenst & Young L is a member of Ernst & Young International, Lid.
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ORGANIZATION OF AMERICAN STATES

LEO 5. ROWE PAN AMERICAN FUND
STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION

December 31
Assets 1998 1997
Equity in OAS Treasury Fund (Note 3) $ 75210 $ 216,863
Investments at market value (Note 4)
Mutual funds invested in equity investments 2,944 474 2.445038
Mutuoal funds invested in fixed income securities 5,002,537 4,700,208
7,947,011 7,145,246
Loans receivable (Note 3)
Students
Installments not yet due 2,237.252 2,141,657
Instaliments past due 430,335 527,978
Allowance for vmcollectible loans {423.613) (423,938)
2,243,974 2,245,697
Employees of the Organization of American States 587,002 581,219
2,830,976 2,826 916
Total Assets $10,853,197 $10,189,025
Liabilities and et Assets
Miscellaneous payables $ 703%4 $ 88,510
Unrestricted net assets
Committee designated (Note 1) 1,000,000 1,000,000
Available for loans 8,782,803 9,100,515
Total net assets 10,782,803 10,100,515
Total liabilities and net assets $10,853,197 $10,189,025

See accompanying notes
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ORGANIZATION OF AMERICAN STATES

-LEO S. ROWE PAN AMERICAN FUND
STATEMENTS OF ACTIVITIES

Year ended Becember 31

Income 1998 1997
Dividend and interest income $ 330,736 $ 336,938
Capital gain distributions from mutual funds 150,527 638,164
Realized gains on investments - 34,277
Miscellaneous income 26,477 3,967
Change in unrealized gains/(losses) on investments (Note 4) 370,898 (39,495)

878,638 973,851

Expenses
Increase in allowance for uncollectible loans (Note 5) 116,111 131,481
Investment management and custodian fees 18,500 15,000
Reimbursement to Regular Fund (Note 6) - 20,000
McLean Fellowship 22,000 -
Administrative expenses 39739 35,971

196,350 202,452

Change in net assets 682,288 771,399

Net assets at beginning of year 10,100,515 9,329,116

Net assets at end of year $10,782,803 $10,100,515

See accompanying notes
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ORGANIZATION OF AMERICAN STATES

LEQ 8. ROWE PAN AMERICAN FUND
STATEMENTS OF CASH FL.OWS

Operating Activities
Change in net assets

Adjustments to reconcile change in net assets to net cash
provided by operating activities:

Unrealized (gain)/loss on investments

Gain on sale of investments

{Decrease)/increase in provision for uncollectible loans

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Decrease/(increase) in loans to students
(Increase)/decrease in loans to employees
Decrease in miscellaneous payables

Net cash provided by operating activities
Investing activities

Proceeds from the sale of investments

Purchase of investments

Net cash used in investing activities

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents

Equity in OAS Treasury Fund at beginning of year
Equity in OAS Treasury Fund at end of year

See accompanying notes

I1-1%

Year ended December 31
1998 1997
$682,288 §771,399
(370,898) 39,495
- (34,277)
(325) 131,480
2,048 (231,472)
(5,783) 56,578
{(18,116) (114,016)
289,214 619,187
- 500,000
(430,867) (915,535)
(430,867) (415,535)
(141,653) 203,652
216,863 13,211
$ 75,210 $216,863




CRGANIZATION OF AMERICAN STATES

LEQ 5. ROWE PAN AMERICAN FUND

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 1998 AND 1997

1. Organizatien and Financing

The Leo S. Rowe Pan American Fund (Fund), a charitable trust, was established in 1948 by the
Governing Board of the General Secretariat of the Pan American Union (PAU) in accordance with the
will of Dr. Leo S. Rowe, a former Director General of the Pan American Union, The purpose of the
Fund is to provide loans to studenis from member states, who desire to study at colleges in the United
States and to provide education and emergency loans to employees of the OAS. The Commitiee
designated net assets of $1,000,000 as being comprised of invesiments not considered to be available
for the purpose of granting loans.

2. Use of Estinnates

The preparation of financial statements requires management to make estimates and assumptions that
affect the amounts reported in the financial statements and accompanying notes. Actual results coutd
differ from those estimates.

3. Equity in OAS Treasury Fund

All U.S. dollars available for use in carrying out the activities of the various funds of the QAS are
consolidated in the OAS Treasury Fund. Each fund administered by the General Secretariat maintains
an equity to the extent of its cash balance retained therein. The QAS Treasury Fund is administered by
the General Secretariat and amounts not immediately required for operations are invested. Income
earned by the OAS Treasury Fund is added to the equity of each fund in proportion to its balance.

4, Investinents

In 1996, the Fund adopted Financial Accounting Standard No. 124 (FAS 124), "Accounting for Certain
Investments Held by Not-For-Profit Organizations”. FAS 124 requires the Fund to report investments
in equity securities with readily determinable market values and all investiments in debt securities at
market value with gains and losses included in the statement of activity.
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4, Invesiments (Continued)

Investments are presented in the financial statements at market value as determined by the latest available

published or brokers' prices.

Mutual Fund Investments

(in thousands)
December 31, 1598
Gross Gross Net Approximate
Cost Unrealized Unrealized Unrealized Market
Gains Losses {3ains Value
Fixed income $4,945 $87 $(29) $ 58 £5,003
securities
Equity
nvestments 2,546 398 - 308 2,944
$7.491 $435 $(29) $456 $7.947
December 31, 1997
Gross Gross Net Approximate
Cost Unrealized Unrealized Unrealized Market
(zains Losses Gains Value
Fixed income $4.670 $70 $(40) $30 $4,700
securifies
Equity 2,390 55 ; 55 2,445
investments i ?
$7.060 $125 $40) $85 $7,145

5, Loan Status

Non-interest bearing loans are granted to students, payable on various terms not to exceed five years
from the termination of the studies for which the loans are granted The Committee of the Leo §. Rowe
Pan American Fund (Committee) has extended the repayment dates for certain loans.

The activity in the allowance for uncolleciible loans was as follows:

199§ 1997
Balance at beginning of year $423,938 $292,458
Activity in provision for uncollectible loans (325) 131,480
$423,613 $423,938

Balance at end of year
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5. Loan Status (Continued)

In the opinion of the Committes, the allowance of $423,613 at December 31, 1998 is sufficient to
provide for losses that may be incurred upon the ultimate realization of these loans.

During 1998 and 1997 the Fund disbursed new student loans aggregating approximately $662,000 and
$687,000, respectively. The Fund received loan repayments of approximately $665,000 and $456,000
in 1998 and 1997, respectively.

New loans to employees for educational purposes or in emergency situations aggregated $123,000 and
$165,000 in 1998 and 1997 respectively. The Fund received loan repayments of approximately
$158,000 and $263,000 in 1998 and 1997 respectively. The interest rate on new employee loans granted
in 1998 changed to 7.0%. Interest rates on outstanding loans granted in 1997 varied from 7.5% to 7.0%.

6. Administrative Expenses

The accompanying financial statements include approximately $40,000 and $36,000 in administrative
expenses related to the services of a contract employee in 1998 and 1997, respectively. The Committee
authorized payments of $20,000 in 1997 to the Regular Fund of the OAS as a reimbursement for a
poriion of costs incurred in the operation of the Fund No such authonzation was made in 1998. No
additional amounts are recorded in the accompanying financial statements relating to the use of services
and facilities provided to the Fund by the General Secretariat as no objective basis is currently available
to measure the value of such contribution.

7. Impact of Year 2000 (unaundited)

The Year 2000 Issue is the result of computer programs being written using two digits rather than four
10 define the applicable year. Any of the QAS’ computer programs that have time-sensitive software may
recognize a date using “00” as the year 1900 rather than 2000. This could result in system failure or
miscalculations causing disruptions of operations, including among other things, a temporary inability
to process transactions, and invoices, or engage in normal business activities,

The Organization has completed an assessment and is in the process of modifying or replacing a portion
of its software and equipment so that its computer systems will function properly with respect to dates
in the year 2000 and after. The project is estimated to be completed no later than October 31, 1999.

The Organization believes that with modifications to existing software and conversions to new software,
the Year 2000 Issue will not pose significant operational problems for its computer systems. However,
if such modifications and conversions are not made, or are not completed timely, the Year 2000 Issue
is not anticipated to have a material impact on the operations of the Fund.
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FUNDS OF THE UNIT FOR THE PROMOTION OF DEMOCRACY
WITH

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT AUDITORS






ﬂ gRNST& %/OUNG i.ip | ) ;225 Connecticut Avenue, N.W., & Phone: 202 327 6000

Washington, D.C. 20036

Report of Independent Auditors

Board of External Auditors
Organization of American States

We have audited the accompanying combined statement of assets, liabilities and fund balance of
the activities of the Unit for the Promotion of Democracy of the Organization of American States
(the Unit) as of December 31, 1998, and the related combined statement of activity and changes
in fund balance for the year then ended. These financial statements are the responsibility of the

Unit's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements
based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards. Those
standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test
basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also
includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management,
as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audit
provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

As described in Note 2, the financial statements of the activities of the Unit have been prepared
on the basis of accounting practices prescribed by the Budgetary and Financial Rules of the
Organization of American States (which include the applicable financially-oriented General
Standards adopted by the General Assembly of the OAS) which is a comprehensive basis of
accounting other than generally accepted accounting principles.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects,
the Unit’s assets, liabilities and fund balance at December 31, 1998, and the activity and changes
in fund balance for the year then ended on the basis of accounting described in Note 2.

As explained in Note 1, the financial statements being presented are only for the funds referred to
above, which was established by the Organization of American States to account for the assets,
liabilities and fund balance and the support, revenues and expenses of activities of the Unit for the
Promotion of Democracy.

March 12, 1999

Ernst & Young wtp is a member of Emnst & Young International, Ltd.
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ORGANIZATION OF AMERICAN STATES

UNIT FOR THE PROMOTION OF DEMOCRACY
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 1998

1. Organization

In Resolution AG/RES.1063/90, the General Assembly requested the Secretary General to establish
within the General Secretariat a Unit for the Promotion of Democracy. On October 15, 1990, the
Secretary General by Executive Order 90-3 (Rev.1) created the Unit for the Promotion of Democracy,
and on July 25, 1995 Executive Order 95-6 established the new organizational structure of the Unit while
maintaining its original responsibilities and functions as follows:

e To provide assistance to member states to improve their institutions and democratic
processes.

o  To provide support to member states for the generation, dissemination, and exchange of
mformation on political systems and demnocratic values.

o To encourage the exchange of experiences among institutions and experts of the
hemisphere in areas related to the promotion of democracy.

e To provide assistance in the observation of electoral processes.
e To support the processes of national reconciliation and peace-building.

The Secretary General established various OAS funds (the Funds) to account for the proceeds and
disbursements pursuant to the activities coordinated by the Unit for the Promotion of Democracy.

2, Basis of Accounting

The accompanying financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the Budgetary and
Financial Rules of the OAS (Rules). The Rules provide the basis for the accounting principles applied
in the preparation of the financial statements. The Rules were adopted to meet budgstary and other
requirements of the OAS and, as such, result in accounting principles and a financial statement display
which vary in certain material respects from generally accepted accounting principles. The significant
deviation from generally accepted accounting principles is as follows:

Unliquidated obligations include amounts related to commitments resulting from offers made by the
Funds to vendors to disburse monies for the procurement of goods or services in future periods. This
amount does not represent liabilities to unrelated third party commitments at December 31, 1998. 1t
represents amounts anticipated to be expended in the subsequent year in the completion of these projects.



3. Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements requires management to make estimates and assumptions that

affect the amounts reported in the financial statements and accompanying notes. Actual results could
differ from those estimates.

4. Equity in OAS Treasury Fund

All U.S. dollars available for use in carrying out the activities of the various fimds of the OAS are
consolidated in the OAS Treasury Fund. Each fund administered by the General Secretariat maintains
an equity to the extent of its cash balance retained therein. The OAS Treasury Fund is administered by
the General Secretariat, and amounts not immediately required for operations are invested. Subject to
certain conditions, income eamed by the OAS Treaswry Fund is added to the equity of each fund in
proportion to its balance.

8, Status of Missions

Haiti

At the Ad Hoc meeting of Ministers of Foreign Affairs held on October 2, 1991, it was resolved
to establish an OAS civilian mission entrusted to facilitate reestablishment and strengthening of
the democratic institutions in Haiti. To this end, financing from Member States and Permanent
Observers totaling $35,081,195 was received from inception until December 31, 1998. In addition
there were in-kind contributions by other countries such as an aircraft by Argentina, Canada,
Colombia, Chile and Venezuela.

Suriname

On July 21, 1992 an agreement signed between the Secretary General of the Organization of
American States and the Government of the Republic of Suriname established the “Special
Mission to Suriname”. The purpose of the Mission is to assist the Government of the Republic
of Suriname in formalizing and safeguarding durable peace, and in strengthening of the national
mstitutions and the democratic order. Initially the Mission was established for a period of two
years (1992-1994) but its mandate has been renewed for two additional two-year periods. The
current mandate of the Mission will expire on July 21, 2000,



5. Status of Misstons (Continued)

Democratic Initiatives

The Unit of Democracy undertook a number of additional activities with the contributions of
member states and observer states, including electoral observation missions in the Dominican
Republic, Ecuador, Honduras, Panama, Peru, and Venezuela. The Technical Collaboration
Program for Peace and Reintegration in Nicaragua, is also included under this beading. Among
the largest contributors was the United States Government which contributed a total of $5,720,498
and Sweden with $1,848,344 since the inception of the Unit to December 31, 1998. Certain of
these contributions are restricted as to their use.

Mine Clearing Assistance Program in Central America

At its XXTI Regular Session through resolution AG/RES. 1191(CKI-0/92), the General
Assembly asked the Secretary General "to establish a Special Fund to accept contributions and
pledges from those countries that wish to cooperate in mine-clearing operations in Central
America”.

At the meeting of the Commission on Central American Security held in San Salvador, June 15-
16, 1992, the Secretary General was asked to expand the mine removal program from Nicaragua
to include the other Central American nations, Costa Rica, Fl Salvador, Guatemala and Honduras.
The Secretary General, in turn, soughti the assistance of the Inter-American Defense Board
(IADB) in extending the mine removal program.  Such a program would be implemented by each
nation’s amy and, in the case of Costa Rica, specialized personnel.

The Secretary General made appeals for funding to member countries, observer countries, and
members of the Partnership for Democracy and received affirmative responses from the
Governments of Argentina, Canada, Denmark, Honduras, Japan, Netherlands, Norway, and
United Kingdom. Grant funds were additionally received from the governments of Germany,
France, the Russian Federation, Spain, Sweden, and the United States.

Elzctoral Observation and Technical Assistance in Guaremala

In a letter to the Secretary General of the OAS dated July 25, 1995, the Guatemalan Government
invited the Organization of American States to observe the general election process in Guatemala.
The objectives of the Mission were to observe the conduct of participants in the electoral process
with the aim of verifying its conformity to prevailing election norms, observing the organization
and management of the electoral process, the degree of freedom of expression, and the
electioneering process. The general elections filled the offices of president and vice-president,
congressional deputies, deputies to the Central American Parliament, mayors, council members,
and aliernates from the country’s mumnicipalities. There were two rounds of elections, on
November 12, 1995 and the second on January 7, 1996. From inception to December 31, 1998,
financing in the amount of $2,585,101 was received from Member States and Observer Countries.
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5. Status of Missions (Continued)
Program for Peace in Guatemala

In late 1994, the Guatemalan Govemment, through its National Fund for Peace (FONAPAZ),
requested an OAS mission to develop a program designed to strengthen the capacity of
Guatemalans to prevent and peacefully resolve conflicts affecting the population. Afier a series
of meetings with Guatemalan authorities, the OAS proposal for a “Program for the Prevention and
Resolution of Community Conflicts in Guatemala” was accepted. The program was subsequently
renamed “Culture of Dialogue in Guatemala™ Program for the Development of Resources for
Peace-building” (PROPAZ). FONAPAZ and the Presidential Secretariat for Peace, Development

and National Reconciliation (SEPAZ) were designated as the government counterparts for the
Program '

The first pilot phase of the program is financed by a special contribution from the Guatemalan
government, which agreed to contribute forty percent of the budget, and the remainder with
DEMOC funds and special contributions by the Canadian and U.S. governments. In September
1996, a letter of understanding was signed by the OAS and the governments of Guatemala,
Sweden, Norway and Denmark, which enhanced the Program to provide technical support and
training to State institutions and civil society institutions at a national level. From inception to
December 31, 1998, financing in the amount of $3,471,806 was received from Member States and
Observer Countries.

Electoral Observation Process in Nicaragua

In an effort to address the concemns of its people, the Nicaraguan Government formally requested
that the QAS field an observation mission that could monifor the entire process leading up to the
national elections, scheduled for October 1996, including registration, the campaign and the
preparations for the national elections. The Government extended this information at the OAS
General Assembly Meeting in June 1995 in Montrouis, Haiti. From inception to December 31,
1998, financing in the amount of $2,132,791 was received from member states and Observer
Countries. Some of the balances inder this heading were used to finance an Electoral Observation
Mission in the Autonomous Regions of the Aflantic Coast of Nicaragua that took place in 1998.

6. Staifing and Administrative Support

Appropriations for the approved personnel posts budgeted on a recwrring basis for the Unit for
Promotion of Democracy, are financed by the Regular Fund of the Organization. Financing for experts
or observers in specific missions of the Unit are, for the most part, financed by special contributions
either for that mission or for missions of the Unit in general.
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7. Impact of Year 2000 (unaundited)

The Year 2000 Issue is the result of computer programs being writien using two digits rather than four
to define the applicable year. Any of the Organization’s computer programs that have time-sensiiive
software may recognize a date using “00” as the year 1900 rather than the year 2000. This could result
in system failure or miscalculations causing disruptions of operations, including among other things, a
temporary inability to process transactions and invoices, or engage in normal business activities.

The Organization has completed an assessment and is in the process of modifying or replacing portions
of its software and equipment so that its computer systems will function properly with respect to dates
in the year 2000 and after. The project is estimated to be completed no later than October 31, 1999.

The Organization believes that with modifications to existing software and conversions to new sofiware,
the Year 2000 Issue will not pose significant operational problems for its computer systems. However,
if such modifications and converstons are not made to the remaining Year-2000 non-ready systems, or
are not completed timely, the Year 2000 Issue is not anticipated to have a material impact on the
operations of the OAS.
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SECTION V
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
OF THE SPECIAL ACCOUNT FOR THE CARIBBEAN:
PLANNING FOR ADAPTATION TO GLOBAL CLIMATE CHANGE
WITH

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT AUDITORS






ﬂ ERN.gT& YOUNﬁ Li.P . @ 1225 Connecticut Avenue, NW. 8 Phone: 202 327 6000

Washingten, D.C. 20036

Report of Independent Aunditors

Board of External Auditors
Organization of American States

We have audited the accompanying statement of assets, liabilities and fund balance of the
Organization of American States Special Account for the Caribbean: Planning for Adaptation to
Global Climate Change, pursuant to the agreements between the Organization of American
States (OAS) and the International Bank for the Reconstruction and Development (the
Agreements), as of December 31, 1998 and 1997, and the related statements of activity and
changes in fund balance and cash flows for the year ended December 31, 1998 and the period
from August 30, 1995 (inception) to December 31, 1997. These financial statements are the
responsibility of management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial
statements based on our audit.

We conducted our audits in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards. Those
standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining,
on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An
audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by
management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that
our audits provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

As described in Note 2, these financial statements have beerrprepared on the basis of accounting
practices prescribed by the Budgetary and Financial Rules of the Organization of American
States (which include the applicable financially-oriented General Standards adopted by the
General Assembly of the OAS) which is a comprehensive basis of accounting other than
generally accepted accounting principles.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects,
the assets, liabilities and fund balance at December 31, 1998 and 1997, and the results of its
activity and changes in fund balance and its cash flows for the year ended December 31, 1998
and for the period from August 30, 1995 (inception) to December 31, 1997 on the basis of
accounting described in Note 2.

March 12, 1999

Ernst & Young ttp is a member of Ernst & Young International, Ltd.
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ORGANIZATION OF AMERICAN STATES

SPECIAL ACCOUNT FOR THE CARIBBEAN:

PLANNING FOR ADAPTATION TO GLOBAL CLIMATE CHANGE
STATEMENTS OF ASSETS, LIABILITIES, AND FUND BALANCE

Assets

Equity in OAS Treasury Fund (Note 4)
Other assets
Total assets

Liabilities and Fund Balance

Unhiquidated obligations (Note 2)
Fund (deficit) balance
Total liabilities and fund balance

December 31
1998 1997
$32,473 $ 184,827
- 2,201
$32.473 $ 187028
$ 59,438 $§ 76,696
(26,965) 110,332
$32.473 $ 187,028

See accompanying notes



ORGANIZATION OF AMERICAN STATES

SPECIAL ACCOUNT FOR THE CARIBBEAN:
PLANNING FOR ADAPTATION TO GLOBAL CLIMATE CHANGE
STATEMENTS OF ACTIVITIES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE

Year ended August 30, 1995 (inception)
December 31 - to December 31
1988 1597 1998
Increases
Contributions (Note 6) § 819,199 $9282816 $1,748,015
Other income and deobligations 90 16,667 16,757
819,289 845,483 1,764,772
Decreases
Obligations and expenditures (Note 7) 930,265 835,151 1,765,416
Return to donors 26321 - 26,321
956,586 835,151 1,791,737
Net change during period (137,297) 110,332 (26,965)
Fund balance at beginning of period 110,332 - -
Fund balance at end of period $ (26,965) $110,332 $ (26,965)

See accompanying notes



ORGANIZATION OF AMERICAN STATES

SPECIAL ACCOUNT FOR THE CARIBBEAN:
PLANNING FOR ADAPTATION TO GLOBAL CLIMATE CHANGE
STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

August 30, 1995

Year ended (inception) to
December 31 December 31
1998 1997
Operating activities
Change in fund balance $ (137,297) $ 110,332
Adjustments to reconcile change in fund balance to net
cash provided by operating activities:
Decrease/(increase) in other assets 2,201 (2,201)
(Decrease)/increase in unliquidated obligations (17,258) 76,696
Net cash (used in)/provided by operating activities: (152,354) 184,827
Net (decrease)/increase in cash (152,354) 184,827
Cash at beginning of period 184,827 -
Cash at end of period $ 32473 $ 184,827

See accompanying notes
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ORGANIZATION OF AMERICAN STATES

SPECTAL ACCOUNT FOR THE CARIBBEAN:
PLANNING FOR ADAPTATION TO GLOBAL CLIMATE CHANGE
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. Organization

The Organization of American States {OAS), at the request of the Caribbean Community
(CARICOM) countries, requested a grant from the Global Environment Facility (GEF) Project
Development and Preparation Facility (PDF) as administered by the International Bank for
Reconstruction and Development to finance the preparation of a regional project to assist these
countries with the potential impacts of the adverse effects of impending global climate changes in
coastal and marine areas. The grant was approved by the Global Environment Facility Operations
Committee (GEFOP) of the International Bank for Reconstruction and Development in June
1995 1n the amount of $305,000.

In April 1997, the project proposal was approved by the GEFOP. At this time, an agreement was
signed between the General Secretariat of the Organization of American States (GS/OAS) and
the International Bank for Reconstruction and Development, who served as the Implementing
Agency of the Global Environment Facility Trust Fund (GEF Trust Fund). In the agreement,
GS/QAS was named the executing agency and received a grant of $6.3 million, In July 1998, the
mitial grant was increased by $349,500 to incorporate a twelfth participating country, St. Vincent
and the Grenadines. Thus, the total approved project funds were $6,649,500 as of December 31,
1998, which must be spent between April 1997 and December 2001.

The project’s overall objective is to support twelve CARICOM member countries in preparing to
cope with the adverse effects of global climate change. Specifically, the project assists national
governments and several regional institutions to strengthen their technical and human capacity;
identifies areas particularly vulnerable to climate change; and develops regional and national
integrated management approaches and policies. Activity of the project is accounted for in an
OAS Specific Fund entitled the World Bank GEF Fund. This project is not a separate legal
entity, but rather a fund administered by the GS/QAS.

The Unit for Sustainable Development and Environment (USDE) of the GS/OAS is responsible
for the technical supervision and overall project quality assurance as well as for disbursements to
the Regional Project Implementing Unit (RPIU). The RPIU was established as part of the
University of West Indies Center for Environment and Development and is presently located at
the University of West Indies campus in Barbados. The RPIU coordinates and manages project
activities at the regional level.
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1. Organization {Continued)

The Caribbean Institute for Meteorology and Hydrology and the Institute of Marine Affairs are
also partners in the project implementation. Bach participating country has established a National

Implementation Coordinating Unit (NICU) to facilitate project implementation at the national
level.

2. Basis of Accounting

The accompanying financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the Budgetary
and Financial Rules of the OAS (Rules). The Rules provide the basis for the accounting
principles applied in the preparation of the financial statements. The Rules were adopted to meet
budgetary and other requirements of the OAS and, as such, result in accounting principles and a
financial statement display which vary in certain material respects from generally accepted

accounting principles. The significant deviation from generally accepted accounting principles is
as follows:

Unliquidated obligations include amounts related to commitments resulting from offers made by
the Fund to vendors to disburse funds for the procurement of goods or services in future periods.
These amounts do not represent liabilities to unrelated third parties at December 31, 1998.

3. Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements requires management to make estimates and assumptions
that affect the amounts reported in the financial statements and accompanying notes. Actual
results could differ from those estimates.

4. Equity in OAS Treasury Fund

Al U.S. dollars available for use in carrying out the activities of the various funds of the OAS are
consolidated in the OAS Treasury Fund. Each fund administered by the General Secretariat
maintains equity to the extent of its cash balance retained therein. The General Secretariat
administers the OAS Treasury Fund, and amounts not immediately required for operations are
invested. Subject to certain conditions, income earned by the OAS Treasury Fund is added to the
equily of each fund in proportion to its balance.

5. Fund (deficit) balance

At December 31, 1998, the account reflected a deficit of $26,965. This deficit was due to timing

differences between the expenditures incurred by the account and reimbursements to the account
by the World Bank.



6. Funding

The World Bank, through the GEF Trust Fund has contributed the following amounts to the
various phases of the project to date:

First Phase: $ 305,000
Second Phase: $1.443 015
$1,748 015

7. Expenditures and Obligations

In accordance with the agreement between GEFOP and GS/OAS, all expenditures financed
out of proceeds of the GEF Trust Fund Grant must be allocated to specific categories.
During the year, the project incurred expenditures totaling $947,525, of which $76,696
related to obligations from the prior year. These expenditures represent transactions
processed by the Executing Agency as well as the RPIU. When funds are transferred from
the Executing Agency to the RPIU, they are considered expenditures of the project. The
RPTU must allocate all expenditures to the appropriate category. At December 31, 1998, the
RPTU had approximately $127,000 which may have represented outstanding commitments,
however the expense claims had not been processed as of the end of the year.

Category Expenditures Obligations Total
Goods $ 27971 $ - 5 27971
Consultants” Services and Training 630,007 56,753 686,759
RPIU Operating Costs 13,979 - 13,979
Executing Agency Operating Costs 148,493 2,685 151,178
Unprocessed expenses 127,072 - 127.075
$ 947523 § 59,438 1,006,961

Less prior year undiquidated obligations (76,696)
Total current year expenditures and

obligations $ 930,265

8. Impact of Year 2000 (unaudited)

The Year 2000 Issue is the result of computer programs being written using two digits rather
than four to define the applicable year. Any of the OAS’ computer programs that have time-
sensitive software may recognize a date using “00” as the year 1900 rather than 2000. This could
result in system failure or miscalculations causing disruptions of operations, including among
other things, a temporary inability to process transactions, and invoices, or engage in normal
business activities.
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8. Impact of Year 2000 (unaudited) (Continued)

The Organization has compieted an assessment and is in the process of modifying or replacing a
portion of its software and equipment so that its computer systems will function properly with
respect to dates in the year 2000 and after. The project is estimated to be completed no later than
QOctober 31, 1999,

The Organization believes that with modifications to existing software and conversions to new
software, the Year 2000 1ssue will not pose significant operational problems for its computer
systems. However, if such modifications and conversions are not made, or are not completed in

a timely fashion, the Year 2000 Issue is not anticipated to have a material impact on the
operations of the OAS,
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Washington, D.C. 20036

Report of Indepencent Auditors

Board of External Auditors
Organization of American States

We have audited the accompanying statements of net assets available for benefits of the
Retirement and Pension Fund of the General Secretariat of the Organization of American States
as of December 31, 1998 and 1997, and the related statements of changes in net assets available
for benefits for the years then ended. These financial statements are the responsibility of the
Plan’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements
based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards. Those
standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining,
on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial staternents. An
audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by
management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that
our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects,
the financial status of the Plan at December 31, 1998 and 1997, and the changes in its financial
status for the years then ended, in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles.

February 12, 1999

Ernst & Young Lr is a member of Ernst & Young International, Ltd.
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ORGANIZATION OF AMERICAN STATES

RETIREMENT AND PENSION FUND
STATEMENTS OF NET ASSETS AVAILABLE FOR BENEFITS

Assets
Investment, at market:
Short-term invesimernis
U.S. government and agency issues
Corporate bonds
Municipal bonds
Miscellaneous bonds
Common stock

Equity in OAS Treasury Fund

Money market account

Receivables, principally accrued
dividends and interest

Total assets

Liabilities

Due to broker for securities purchased
Provident Plan participants accounts
Miscellaneous payables

Total liabilities

Net assets available for benefiis

December 31

1998

1997

$ 15,337,590

$ 20,586,670

62,913,567 62,544,585
51,911,439 43,048,385
654,204 728,380
18,315,078 9,098,841
244,574,581 207,175,483
393,706,509 343,182,844
267,273 289,426
12,806,358 12,692,988
2,083,801 1,875,416
408,863,941 358,040,674
13,321,270 -
1,571,642 1,360,845
198,763 670,827
15,091,675 2,031,672
$393,772,266 $356,009,002

See accompanying notes



ORGANIZATION OF AMERICAN STATES

RETIREMENT AND PENSION FUND
STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN NET ASSETS AVAILABLE FOR BENEFITS

Additions
Investment income:
Net unrealized appreciation in fair value
of investments
Net realized gains on sale of investments
Interest
Dividends

Less investment expenses

Contributions:
Institutions
Participants

Total additions

Deductions
Payments to pensioners
Liquidations paid to participants
(or their beneficiaries)
Interest credited to Provident Plan accounts

Administrative expenses
Total deductions
Net increase

Net asseis available for benefits
Beginning of year
End of year

Years ended December 31

1998 1997
$ 35,310,404 $37,199,210
11,162,789 11,100,045
9,515,794 9,727,504

. 1,029

55,988,987 58,027,788
600,458 537,425
55,388,529 57,490,363
7,923,022 7,954,179
4,007,143 3,976,629
67,318,694 69,421,171
3,465,224 3,243,971
25,400,661 43,817,815
162,160 152,830
29,028,045 47,214,616
527,385 522,288
29,555,430 47,736,904
37,763,264 21,684,267
356,009,002 334,324,735
$393,772,266 $356,009,002

See accompanying notes




ORGANIZATION OF AMERICAN STATES

RETIREMENT AND PENSION FUND

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 1993 AND 1997

i. Description of Plans

The activity of the Organization of American States Retirement and Pension Fund includes both
the Retirement and Pension Plan (Plan) and the Provident Plan. The following brief description
of the Plan and the Provident Plan is provided for general information purposes only. The Plan
documents should be consulted for detailed information.

General

The Plan is a coniributory retirement plan maintained for the benefit of all staff members of the
Organization of American States (OAS) and other affiliated agencies. Compulsory contributions
are shared two-thirds (2/3) by the institution and one-third (1/3) by the staff member.

The Provident Plan is a contributory savings plan established for the benefit of employees under
short-term contracts. Compulsory contributions by the employer and the participant are made in
equal amounts, and the balances in the accounts are fully vested in the name of the participants,
The total of the accumulated funds in the Provident Plan participants’ accounts may only be
withdrawn at the time of death, transfer to the Plan, or separation.

Benefiss of the Plan

Amounts included in participants’ Plan accounts may only be withdrawn at the time of death or
separation. Participants leaving the Plan before mandatory retirement age are entitled to receive
the amount of their personal credits {contributions plus interest) and a percentage of the

institutional credit (employer’s contributions plus interest) based upon the vesting provisions of
the Plan.

The vesting provisions provide that participants with less than four years of participation receive,
in addition to 100% of their personal credits, 35% of the institutional credit. Participants with
four years of participation receive 40% of the institutional credit. Participants receive an
additional 20% of the institutional credit for each additional year in excess of four. They are fully
vested in their institutional credits after seven years of participation.

Mmimum conditions for retirement are fifty-five (55) years of age and fifieen (15) years of
participation in the Plan. Upon refiring, participants in the Plan are entitled to pensions payable
for life. Participants who joined the Plan before January 1, 1982, may elect, instead of the



1. Description of Plans (Continued)
Benefits of the Plan (Continued)

preceding benefit, a life annuity based on the total sum standing to their credit in their accounts.
Alternatively, at their request, the Commuttee has the discretion to substitute some other form of
benefit of equivalent value.

The Plan provides for minimum pension benefits. The minimum life pension for a participant at
age sixty-five (65), with not less than fifieen (15) years of participation in the Plan, is an annual
amount equal to 2% of the average annual pensionable remuneration for the thirty-six (36)
consecutive months of highest pensionable remuneration within the last five (5) years of
rermmerated participation, multiplied by the number of years of participation up to a maximum of
thirty (30), and one and two-thirds percent (1 2/3%) additional for every year of participation in
excess of thirty (30} but no more than forty (40). The same method is used to determine the
amount of the voluntary retirement pension due to participants who elect that form of retirement
which is applicable to participants fifty-five (55) years of age or older but less than sixty-five (65)
whose years of participation and age, when added, total not less than eighty-five (85). Certain
reductions are made for retirement at an age less than sixty (60) or participation of less than thirty
(30) years if the participant doesn’t satisfy the rule of eighty-five (85). Cost-of-living
adjustments to pensions are contemplated in the Plan.

Death Benefiis

Upon death of a pensioner [or a participant with not less than five years of participation who dies
while in active service], the pensioner’s surviving spouse, and minor or disabled children, are
entitled to a pension, as defined in the Plan. When an active participant dies with less than five
(5) years of participation, the surviving spouse and the minor or disabled children, if any, receive
the total of the accumulated funds in the participant’s account. Also, for a participant who dies
while in active service with no surviving spouse or children, the Plan authorizes payment of the
respective personal credit to the designated beneficiaries.

Disability Benefifs

Participants with five or more years of participation in the Plan, whose services are terminated
because of physical or mental disability receive annual disability benefits, in the form of a life
pension, as defined in the Plan. Participants who have less than five years of participation receive
the total of the accumulated funds in their accounts. A participant who joined the Plan before
January 1, 1982 may elect to be covered instead by alternative provisions on disability retirement
defined in the Plan.



2. Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting
principles requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts

reported in the financial statements and accompanying notes. Actual results could differ from
those estimates.

3. Income Tax Status of the Fund

As an international organization, the OAS is exempt from U.S. federal income taxes and such
exemption applies to the Retirement and Pension Fund of the General Secretariat of the OAS.

4. Funding Policy

The plans are funded by the General Secretariat, other affiliated agencies and compulsory
participants’ contributions at fixed percentages of annual pensionable remuneration. A portion of
the income earned on the Retirement and Pension Fund’s investments is allocated semiannually
to Provident and Plan participants’ accounts at rates determined by the Retirement and Pension
Committee. The remaining portion, if any, is retained in the Plan’s General Reserve for
operational costs and to ensure continued Plan stability. Interest credited to participants’
accounts was 17.5% and 14% in 1998 and 1997, respectively. Participants’ accumulated
contributions were $92,970,000 and $84.670,000 at December 31, 1998 and 1997, respectively,
including interest credited at rates determined by the Committee, compounded semiannually.

5. Investments

The Fund’s investment portfolio is managed by the State Street Bank of Boston, The Northern
Trust Company of Chicago, and Barclays Global Investors of San Francisco, within the
investment policy guidelines established by the Retirement and Pension Committee. The
Committee also retains the firm Buck Consultants as financial advisors.

The State Street Bank manages the domestic equity and bond portfohios. The Northemn Trust
Company manages the short-term investment portfolio. Barclays Global Investors manages and
acts as custodian of the majority of the intemational equity portfolio. The Scudder Trust
Company acts as custodian for a small portion of the international equity portfolio. The Northem
Trust Company is the custodian of all remaining investments of the Fund, except for the funds in
the Treasury Account of the General Secretariat of the QAS.

The above mentioned firm, Buck Consultants, also performs the monitoring of the investment
managers and investment returns to assure compliance with the Commitiee’s established
policies. Quarterly reports are presented by Buck Consultants to the Commiitee,



5. Investments (Continued)

The fair value of individual investments that represent 5% or more of the Plan’s net assets are as

follows:
Becember 31
1598 1997
State Street Russell 1000 Fund $132,197,325 $114,962,057
State Street Matrix Stock Fund 30,688,569 29,080,495
State Street Matrix Small Cap Fund 19,412,621 21,257,676
EAFE (excluding Japan) Equity Index Fund 44,238,975 35,739,025
$207,124,867 $201,039,253

The classification of investments in terms of portfolios and financial instruments allows the
matrix presentation that follows:

Portfolios 1998
Domestic

Financial Categories Short-term Fixed-term Equities Intl. Equity Total
Short-term investments $1,622,226 $13,671,999 § 43,365 $ 15,337,590
1.8, Government and

agency issues 14,332,403 46,581,164 62,913,567
Corporate bonds 11,017,363 40,894,126 51,911,489
Municipal bonds 654,204 654,204
Miscellancous bonds 9,169,504 9,145,174 18,315,078
Common stock 182,300,829 62,273,752 244,574,581
Total $38,141,896 $110,946,667 $182,344,194 $62,273,752 $393,706,509

Porifolios 1997
Domestic

Financial Categorics Short-term Fized-term Equities Intl. Equity Total
Short-term investments $ 5,007,248 $15569624 § = 9,798 $ 20,586,670
U.S. Government and ’

agency issues 15,573,940 46,970,645 62,544,585

Corporate bonds 18,535,701 24,492,684 43,048,385
Municipal bonds 728,880 728,880
Miscellaneous bonds 9,098,841 9,008,841
Common stock 165,303,461 41,872,022 207,175,483
Total $39,136,889 $96,860,674  $165,313,25%9 541,872,022 $343,182 344
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S. Investments (Continued)

These tables facilitate the understanding of the composition and nature of the investment
structure of the Fund. Also, the listing of investment assets in the Statement of Net Assets
available for Benefits follows the classification by financial instruments in full compliance with
generally accepted accounting principles.

6. Investineni Valuation

Common stocks and bonds are valued at fair market value measured by the quoted price of the
active market on which the security is traded as of the latest trade date prior to year end.

Any asset not traded on an active market such as thinly traded issues are valued by either
obtaining a price from their issuer, a reputable private dealer, or from pricing specialists. Quoted
prices in active markets or prices otherwise determined are provided by The Northemn Trust
Company. Net appreciation {depreciation) for the years ended December 31, are as follows:

1928 1997
United States government and agency obligations $ 1,420,311 $ 1,950,148
Corporate bonds 334,595 459,525
Municipal bonds {12,181) 7,550
Muiscellaneous bonds 192,844 111,614
Common stocks 44,537,624 45 770,417
$ 46,473,193 $ 48.299 254

7. Plan Termination

if the Plan is terminated, every participant, regardless of length of participation, is entitled to ail
the contributions credited to his or her account and the increment thereon.

Except to correct any actuarial errors, no part of the contributions to the Fund made by the
General Secretariat of the OAS or any other affiliated institution, or of the increment thereon,
shall revert to the general funds of the institutions or be used for any other purpose than the
exclusive benefit of the participants or their beneficiaries.



8. Actuarial Present Value of Accumulated Plan Benefits

Accumulated plan benefits are those estimated future periodic payments, including lump sum
distributions, that are attributable under the Plan’s provisions to the participants or their
beneficiaries. Accumulated plan benefits include benefits expected to be paid to {a) retired or
terminated employees or their beneficiaries, and (b) present employees or their beneficiaries. The
actuarial present value of accumulated plan benefits is determined by the consulting actuaries,
Buck Consultants.

The significant assumptions used in the valuation as of December 31, 1998, 1997, and 1996,
were (a) life expectancy of participants (United Nations Mortality Tables - males 1990 table and
female 1982 table); (b) retirement assumptions (assumed 1.3% - 6.3% for ages fifty-five to sixty-
four with fifieen or more years of participation, 75% - 90% for ages sixty-five to sixty-nine with
fifteen or more years of participation or immediately if older than sixty-nine); (c) investment
refurn (an assumed annual rate of return of 8.5%, of which 5.5 points assumed credited annually
to participants’ accounts); (d) retirement benefit election (20% of participants who entered the
Plan pror to January 1, 1982, and 100% of subsequent participants elect pensions upon
retirement, with all such individuals commuting one-third of their benefits, the remaining
assumed to elect full commutation), (e) future cost-of-living adjustments to pensions and all cost-
of-living granted to prospective pensioners will be funded by the Plan, and (f) operational costs
of 0.4%.

The foregoing actuarial assumptions are based on the presumption that the Plan will confinue.
Were the Plan to terminate, different actuarial assumptions and other factors might be applicable
in determining the actuanial present value of accumulated plan benefits.

The actuarial present value of accumulated Plan benefits, and benefit information for December
31, 1998, 1997 and 1996 are shown in the following table:

December 31
1998 1997 1996
(in thousands)
Actuarial present value of accumulated
plan benefits
Vested benefits:
Participants $181,601 $174,712 $159,059
Present value of termination benefiis not
included in assets - - 29,692
Pensioners 36,821 38,139 35,444
Total vested benefits 218,422 212,851 224,195
Non-vested benefits 15,696 15,234 13,873
Total actuarial present value of
accumulated plan benefits $234,118 $228 085 $238 068
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8. Actuarial Present Value of Accumulated Plan Benefits (Continued)

The reconciliation shown below sets forth the reasons for the increase in the total actuarial
present value of accumulated Plan benefits between 1997 and 1998.

December 31
1998 1997
(in thousands)
Total actuarial present value of accumulated Plan
benefits at beginning of the year $228,085 $238,068
Increase (decrease) atiributable to:
Interest earned on accumulated Plan benefits 18,159 17,727
Benefits paid (28,866) (59,039)
Benefits accumulated 16,740 31,329
Total actuarial present value of accumulated Plan
benefits at end of the year $234,118 $228.085

9. Equity in the OAS Treasury Fund

All United States dollars available for use in carrying out the activities of the various funds of the
General Secretariat of the OAS are consolidated in the Treasury Fund, in which the Retirement
and Pension Fund maintains an equity to the extent of its cash balance. The Treasury Fund is
administered by the General Secretariat and the interest earned is added to the equity of the
Retirement and Pension Fund in proportion to its equity balance.

10. Money Market Account

The Retirement and Pension Fund has an operational money market account with Merrill Lynch
from which liquidation and annuitant payments are made. This account is considered to be part
of the investment portfolic maintained by the Fund and is included as part of cash and cash
equivalents when calculating the investment allocation in accordance with the investment policy
guidelines established by the Retirement and Pension Committee.

11. Year 2000 (unaudited)

The Year 2000 Issue is the result of computer programs being written using two digits rather
than four to define the applicable year. Any of the Organization’s computer programs that have
time-sensitive software may recognize a date using “00” as the year 1900 rather than the year
2000. This could result in system failure or miscalculations causing disruptions of operations,
including among other things, a temporary inability to process transactions and invoices, or
engage in normal business activities.
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11. Year 2000 (unaudited) (Continued)

The Organization has completed an assessment and is in the process of modifying or repiacing
portions of its software and equipment so that its computer sysiems will function properly with
respect to dates in the year 2000 and after. The project is estimated to be completed no later than
October 31, 1999.

The Organization believes that with modifications to existing software and conversions o new
software, the Year 2000 Issue will not pose significant operational problems for its computer
systems. However, if such modifications and conversions are not made to the remaining Year-
2000 non-ready systems, or are not completed timely, the Year 2000 Issue is not anticipated to
have a matenial impact on Plan operations.
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Washington, D.C. 20036

Report of Independent Auditors

Board of External Auditors
Inter-American Defense Board

We have audited the accompanying statements of financial position of the Inter-American
Defense Board (the Board) as of December 31, 1998 and 1997, and the related statements of
activities and cash flows for the years then ended. These financial statements are the
responsibility of the Board’s management. Qur responsibility is to express an opinion on these
financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards. Those
standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining,
on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An
audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by
management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that
our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects,
the financial position of the Inter-American Defense Board at December 31, 1998 and 1997, and
the results of its operations and its cash flows for the years then ended in conformity with
generally accepted accounting principles.

February 23, 1999

Ernst & Young 1P is a member of Ernst & Young International, Ltd.
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' ORGANIZATION OF AMERICAN STATES

INTER-AMERICAN DEFENSE BOARD

STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION

Assets

Current assets;
Cash and cash equivalents

Prepaid expenses and other assets

Property and equipment, at cost: (Note 7)
Furniture and equipment

Less accumulated depreciation

Total assets

Liabilities and net assets

Current hiabilities:
Accounts payable

Accrued leave (Note 2)

Unrestricted net assets

Total habilities and net assets

See accompanying notes

VII-5

December 31
1208 1397
$ 301,471 $ 237812
30,147 54,092
331,618 291,904
593,313 084,167
238,442 610,513
354,871 373,654
$ 686,489 $ 665,558
$ 116,727 $ 206,552
185,799 162,475
302,526 369,027
383,963 296,531
$ 686,489 $ 665,558




ORGANIZATION OF AMERICAN STATES

INTER-AMERICAN DEFENSE BOARD
STATEMENTS OF ACTIVITIES

Kevenue:
Funding received from the Organization of
American States (Note 5)

Interest and other income
Total revenue
Expenses:
Personnel
Building and mamtenance
Equipment and supplies
Other general and administrative
Travel
Depreciation
Documents
Contracts
Total expenses
Change in net assets
Unrestricted net assets at beginning of year

Unrestricted net assets at end of year

See accompanying notes

Year ended December 31

1998 1997
$ 2,174,500 $ 2,500,000
41,806 32,760
2,216,306 2,532,760
1,251,367 1,756,769
61,859 109,509
150,182 161,797
153,596 146,148
55,605 68,722
95,115 67,343
85,033 54,297
276,117 83,677
2,128 874 2,448 262
87,432 84,498
296,531 212,033
$ 383,963 $ 296,531




ORGANIZATION OF AMERICAN STATES

INTER-AMERICAN DEFENSE BOARD

STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Year ended December 31

1908 1997
Operating activities
Change in net assets ' $ 87.432 $ 84,498
Adjustments to reconcile change in net assets fo net cash
provided by operating activities:
Depreciation 95,115 67,343
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Decrease in prepaid expenses and other assets 23,945 20,527
{Decrease)/increase in accounts payable {89,825) 192,685
Increase/(Decrease) in accrued leave 23,324 (29,904)
Net cash provided by operating activities 139,991 335,149
Investing activities
Purchase of property and equipment (76,332) (277,408)
Net cash used in investing activities (76,332) (277,408)
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 63,659 57,741
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 237,812 180,071
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year $301,471 $237,812

See accompanying notes



ORGANIZATION OF AMERICAN STATES

INTER-AMERICAN DEFENSE BOARD
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 1998 AND 1997

1. Organization

The Inter-American Defense Board (the Board) was established on March 30, 1942 and was
designated, by executive order, as a public international organization on March 26, 1951. The
Board 1s comprised of military officers representing the highest echelons of their nations” defense
establishments. lts mission is to maintain the collective self-defense of the Western Hemisphere
with peace and security as primary objectives.

The Inter-American Defense College was established in 1962 as a sub-organization of the Board.
Its primary goal is the preparation of future military and civilian leaders for their role in
hemispheric security.

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Basis of Presentation - The accompanying financial statements are prepared on the accrual basis
of accounting.

Cash and Cash Equivalents - The Board considers highly liquid investments with original
maturities of three months or less to be cash equivalents.

Depreciation - Depreciation expense is recognized using the straight-line method over the
estimated useful life of the assets. The useful life of furniture and printing equipment is
estimated at ten years; and the estimated life of other equipment is five years.

In-Kind Contributions - Significant coniributions are received by the Board from the
Organization of American States (OAS) and member countries in the form of use of facilities,
services of military personnel and air transportation. No amounts are recorded in the
accompanymg financial statements relating to the use of such facilities or services since the
Board deems it impractical to measure the value of such contributions.

Employee Benefifs - The Board provides certain benefits to its employees, which accrue to them
during periods of employment and are payable upon separation. All employees are entitled to
accrued vacation; certain other employees receive terminal pay, merit awards and special leave.
The payments made during 1998 and 1997 for these benefits amounted to approximately
$22,294 and $177,000, respectively.



2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies {Continued)

Income Taxes - The Board is a public international organization and, as such, is exempt from
paying income tax.

3. Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting
principles requires management to make estimates and assumptions that effect the amounts

reported 1n the financial statements and accompanying notes. Actual results could differ from
those estimates.

4, Pension Plan

Substantially all of the employees of the Board participate in a contributory multi-employer
pension plan administered by the Retirement and Pension Commuttee of the OAS. Contributions
to the plan by the Board and employees are based on fixed percentages of annual pensionable
salaries. Pension expense approximated $155,889 and $202,000 in 1998 and 1997, respectively.

5. Funding

The Board is an affiliated agency of the OAS and as such receives a substantial portion of its

funding through OAS appropriations; however, the two organizations maintain separate
management siructures.

Funding received from the QAS in the form of direct cash contributions decreased from
$2,500,000 in 1997 to $2,174,500 in 1998. The QAS has currently appropriated $2,159,900 for
1999. The Board relies upon the OAS for funding substantially all of its operating activities and
1s dependent upon the continued financial support of the OAS.

The headquarters of the Board is housed in a building owned by the General Secretariat of the

OAS; therefore, expenditures incurred for building renovation and improvements are not
capitalized by the Board.

Using its 1998 funding from the OAS, the IADB entered into a service contract and purchased

equipment at year end. IADB received these services and equipment subsequent to December
31, 1998,
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6. Program Expenses

The Board incurred approximately $1,192,147 and $1,210,430 in 1998 and 1997, respectively,
related to the Inter-American Defense College. All other expenses incurred were classified as
General and Administrative Expenses.

7. Property and Eguipment

TADB performed a physical inventory during 1998. Obsolete and non-serviceable items with
acquisition cost of $467,186, which were fully depreciated, were written off from the financial
records.

8. Impact of Year 2000 (unaudited)

The year 2000 issue is the result of computer programs being written using two digits rather than
four to define the applicable year. Any of the Boards’s computer programs that have time-
sensitive software may recognize a date using “00” as the year 1900 rather than the year 2000.
This could result in system failure or miscalculations causing disruptions of operations, including
among other things, a temporary inability to process transactions, and invoices, or engage in
normal business activities.

The Board has substantially completed an assessment and a process of modifying or replacing

portions of its software and equipment so that its computer systems will function properly with
respect to dates in the year 2000 and after.
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SECTION VIII
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
OF THE TRUST FOR THE AMERICAS
WITH

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT AUDITORS






@ EKNS?& yOUNG i.lP & 1225 Connecticut Avenue, N.W. & Phone: 202 327 6000

Washington, D.C. 20036

Report of Independent Auditors

Board of External Auditors
Organization of American States

We have audited the accompanying statements of financial position of the Trust for the Americas
Fund (the Fund) as of December 31, 1998 and the related statement of activities and cash flows
for the period from November 13, 1997 (inception) to December 31, 1998. These financial
statements are the responsibility of the Fund's management. Our responsibility is to express an
opinion on these financial statements based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards. Those
standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining,
on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An
audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by
management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that
our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects,
the financial position of the Trust for the Americas Fund at December 31, 1998, and the results
of its operations and its cash flows for the period from November 13, 1997 (inception) to
December 31, 1998 in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles.

April &, 1999

Ernst & Young LLP is a member of Ernst & Young International, Ltd.

VIH-3






ORGANIZATION OF AMERICAN STATES

THE TRUST FOR THE AMERICAS
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

DECEMBER 31, 1998

Assets
Cash $ 3,230
Total assets $ 3230

Liabilities and net assets

Accounts payable 230
Unrestricted net assets (Note 2) 3,000
Total liabilities and net assets $ 3,230

See accompanying notes
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ORGANIZATION OF AMERICAN STATES

THE TRUST FOR THE AMERICAS
STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES

NOVEMBER 13, 1997 (INCEPTION) TO DECEMBER 31, 1998

Revenue:

In-kind contributions (Note 2) $ 270,704

Contributions from corporate donors (Note 2) 4,770

Dividend income 10
Total revenue 275,484
Expenses:

In-kind expense (Note 2) 270,704

Administrative and other expenses 1,780
Total expenses 272,484
Increase in net assets 3,000
Unrestricted net assets at beginming of period -
Unrestricted net assets at end of period $ 3,000

See accompanying notes
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ORGANIZATION OF AMERICAN STATES

THE TRUST FOR THE AMERICAS
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
NOVEMBER 13, 1997 (INCEPTION) TO DECEMBER 31, 1998

Operating activities

Change in net assets $ 3,000
Adjustments to reconcile change in net assets to net cash

provided by operating activities:

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:

Increase 1n accounts payable 230
Net cash provided by operating activities 3,230
Net increase in cash 3,230
Cash at the beginning of the period -
Cash at the end of the period $ 3,230

See accompanying notes
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ORGANIZATION OF AMERICAN STATES

THE TRUST FOR THE AMERICAS
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
NOVEMBER 13, 1997 (INCEPTION) TO PECEMBER 31, 1998

1. Organization

The Trust for the Americas (the Trust) was created in 1997 as a non-profit entity, incorporated in
the District of Columbia. The Trust serves the Organization of American States (OAS) as an
entry point to expand hemispheric cooperation and enhance economic development by providing
a channel for information, services, goods and funds.

In addressing central goals of the OAS, and in response to the Summits of the Americas, the
Trust mobilizes resources to confront the problems posed by extreme poverty and to promote
democracy through actions that are environmentally, economically, and socially sustainable, and
that foster public participation, particularly of groups heretofore excluded from the international
dialogue.

The operations of the Trust began in fiscal year 1998 with the principal focus on establishing the
framework within which to begin program activities. Funding to establish the Trust was
provided by the Inter-American Council for Integral Development (CIDI) through a specific fund
created to finance CIDI programs which strengthen partnerships with private enterprises and
foundations. An initial grant of $250,000 was made by the U.S. to foster this specific initiative.

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Basis of Presentation

The accompanying financial statements are presented on the accrual basis of accounting in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles.

Fund Accounting and Net Asset Classifications

To ensure compliance with restrictions placed on the resources available to the Trust, the Trust’s
accounts are classified for accounting and reporting into funds established according to their
nature and purposes. In the financial statements, funds that have similar characteristics have
been combined into three net asset categories: unrestricted, temporarily restricted, and
permanently restricted.

Unrestricted net assets are not restricted by donors, or the donor-imposed resirictions have
expired.

Vill-8



